

University of Kentucky UKnowledge

Theses and Dissertations--Nursing

College of Nursing

2014

CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE RISK FACTORS AMONG EMERGING ADULTS IN COLLEGE

Demetrius A. Abshire University of Kentucky, demabshire@gmail.com

Right click to open a feedback form in a new tab to let us know how this document benefits you.

Recommended Citation

Abshire, Demetrius A., "CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE RISK FACTORS AMONG EMERGING ADULTS IN COLLEGE" (2014). *Theses and Dissertations--Nursing*. 12. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/nursing_etds/12

This Doctoral Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the College of Nursing at UKnowledge. It has been accepted for inclusion in Theses and Dissertations--Nursing by an authorized administrator of UKnowledge. For more information, please contact UKnowledge@lsv.uky.edu.



STUDENT AGREEMENT:

I represent that my thesis or dissertation and abstract are my original work. Proper attribution has been given to all outside sources. I understand that I am solely responsible for obtaining any needed copyright permissions. I have obtained needed written permission statement(s) from the owner(s) of each third-party copyrighted matter to be included in my work, allowing electronic distribution (if such use is not permitted by the fair use doctrine) which will be submitted to UKnowledge as Additional File.

I hereby grant to The University of Kentucky and its agents the irrevocable, non-exclusive, and royalty-free license to archive and make accessible my work in whole or in part in all forms of media, now or hereafter known. I agree that the document mentioned above may be made available immediately for worldwide access unless an embargo applies.

I retain all other ownership rights to the copyright of my work. I also retain the right to use in future works (such as articles or books) all or part of my work. I understand that I am free to register the copyright to my work.

REVIEW, APPROVAL AND ACCEPTANCE

The document mentioned above has been reviewed and accepted by the student's advisor, on behalf of the advisory committee, and by the Director of Graduate Studies (DGS), on behalf of the program; we verify that this is the final, approved version of the student's thesis including all changes required by the advisory committee. The undersigned agree to abide by the statements above.

Demetrius A. Abshire, Student Dr. Terry A. Lennie, Major Professor Dr. Terry A. Lennie, Director of Graduate Studies



CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE RISK FACTORS AMONG EMERGING ADULTS IN COLLEGE

DISSERTATION

A dissertation submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in the College of Nursing at the University of Kentucky

> By Demetrius Alexander Abshire

> > Lexington, Kentucky

Director: Dr. Terry A. Lennie, Professor of Nursing

Lexington, Kentucky

2014

Copyright © Demetrius A. Abshire 2014



ABSTRACT OF DISSERTATION

CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE RISK FACTORS AMONG EMERGING ADULTS IN COLLEGE

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine factors associated with cardiovascular disease (CVD) risk among emerging adults in college aged 18-25 years. CVD risks that develop during this period often persist into adulthood making it an ideal time to target CVD prevention. The specific aims of this dissertation were to 1) explore perceptions of cardiovascular risk among emerging adult men in college; 2) compare differences in unhealthy behaviors and obesity between emerging adults in college living in rural, Appalachian Kentucky and urban Fayette County, Kentucky; and 3) compare measures of general and abdominal obesity in predicting blood pressure among emerging adults in college.

Specific Aim One was addressed by a qualitative study of perceptions of cardiovascular risk in 10 emerging adult males in college. Specific Aims Two and Three were addressed by a study of emerging adult college students living in rural, Appalachian and urban Fayette County, Kentucky. We hypothesized that students in rural, Appalachian Kentucky would engage in more unhealthy behaviors and be obese due to living in an austere environment with barriers to healthy behaviors. Although obesity and hypertension are known to be related, researchers have not determined whether body fat distribution, general vs. abdominal, is predictive of blood pressure in emerging adults. Knowing which body fat distribution is the strongest predictor of blood pressure may help in evaluating cardiovascular risk in emerging adults.

Emerging adult men emphasized difficulty engaging in CVD health behaviors while attending college and choose to ignore long-term CVD risk. Overcoming college-specific and developmental barriers to engaging in healthy behaviors is critical to reducing cardiovascular risk in this population. Students living in rural, Appalachian Kentucky had more CVD risk behaviors and more were obese compared to those in urban Fayette County, Kentucky. Reducing CVD risk behaviors and obesity among students in rural Appalachian Kentucky may help



decrease the high burden of CVD in this region. Findings suggest that waist circumference was the best predictor of systolic blood pressure among emerging adults in college.

KEYWORDS: cardiovascular disease risk factors, college, emerging adults, Appalachia, abdominal obesity

Demetrius Abshire Student's signature

<u>12/10/2014</u> Date



CARDIOVASCULAR DISEASE RISK FACTORS AMONG EMERGING ADULTS IN COLLEGE

By

Demetrius Alexander Abshire

Terry A. Lennie Director of Dissertation

Terry A. Lennie Director of Graduate Studies

12/10/2014



ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Several people have contributed to this dissertation study, and I would like to acknowledge their support. I would like to thank Dr. Terry A. Lennie for serving as the chair of my dissertation committee and providing valuable insight, feedback, and support throughout the entire dissertation process. Dr. Lennie has also been instrumental in helping me clearly express ideas, improve my research methodology, and has challenged me in numerous ways that have helped me develop my scholarly abilities-to that I owe a great amount of gratitude. I would also like to acknowledge Dr. Debra K. Moser for serving on my committee and for her tremendous ability to inspire and motivate those for whom she serves. I admire her passion for excellence and innovation as it relates to research and career development. Dr. Gia Mudd-Martin has also been a wonderful resource as one of my committee members, and I appreciate her contributions to this dissertation. Finally, I would like to thank Dr. Alison Bailey for serving as the outside member of my dissertation committee. Dr. Bailey has provided invaluable expertise related to conducting research in Appalachia Kentucky.

Many other community partners have offered tremendous support for this dissertation. I would particularly like to thank Mr. Cluster Howard and Ms. Mary Pennington from Hazard Community and Technical College for their strong support of this project and for helping me schedule recruitment visits. Rob Knight of Bluegrass Community and Technical College has also been very helpful in arranging site visits.



iii

I also want to give special thanks to my wife, Sarah, for her loving commitment to my success as a graduate student and scholar. Together we have gone through many challenges during my years as a graduate student; I would not be here today or have completed this milestone without her guidance, support, and love.



TABLE OF CONTENTS

ACKNOWLEDGMENTSiii
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESix
CHAPTER ONE: Introduction1
1. Cardiovascular Diseases and Importance of Risk Factors.12. Emerging Adults, College, and Cardiovascular Disease Risk.13. Characteristics of Rural Appalachia Kentucky34. Cardiovascular Disease in Kentucky.45. Purpose of Dissertation.56. Summary of Subsequent Chapters6
CHAPTER TWO: Perceptions Related to Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Emerging Adult College Males
1. Introduction 10 2. Methods 12 2.1. Design 12 2.2. Participants 12 2.3. Data Collection 13 2.4. Data Analysis 14 2.5. Rigor 14 3. Results 15 3.1. Barriers to Implementing Healthy Lifestyle Choices 15 3.1.1. Unhealthy food options outnumber healthy ones 15 3.1.2. Time constraints 16 3.1.3. Convenience 17 3.1.4. Social influences 18 3.1.5. Threats to health must be perceived as immediate before action is taken 9 3.2. Perceptions about Modifiable and Non-Modifiable CVD Risk Factors 20 3.2.1. Diet and physical activity. 20 3.2.2. Lifestyles of men increase risk. 21 3.2.3. Family history perceived as an important risk factor. 21 4. Discussion 22 4.1. Limitations 25 5. Conclusions 26
CHAPTER THREE: Regional Differences in Cardiovascular Disease Risk
1 Introduction
2. Methods



2.1. Design, Setting, and Sample	30
2.2. Measures	31
2.2.1. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption	31
2.2.2. Fast Food Consumption	32
2.2.3. Smoking	32
2.2.4. Physical Activity	32
2.2.5. Overweight, Obesity, and Abdominal Obesity	33
2.2.6. Other Variables of Interest	34
2.3. Procedure	34
2.4. Data Analysis	35
3. Findings	37
3.1. Characteristics of Participants	37
3.2. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption	37
3.3. Frequency of Fast Food Consumption	38
3.4. Smoking	38
3.5. Physical Activity	38
3.6. Overweight, Obesity, and Abdominal Obesity	38
4. Discussion	39
4.1. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption	39
4.2. Frequency of Fast Food Consumption	40
4.3. Smoking	40
4.4. Physical Activity	41
4.5. Overweight, Obesity, and Abdominal Obesity	42
4.6. Limitations	43
5. Conclusions	44

1. Introduction	
2. Methods	
2.1. Design, Setting, and Sample	
2.2. Predictors	53
2.2.1. Body Mass Index	
2.2.2. Waist Circumference	53
2.2.3. Sagittal Abdominal Diameter	53
2.3. Covariates	54
2.3.1. Physical Inactivity	54
2.3.2. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption	54
2.3.3. Smoking	
2.3.4. Depressive Symptoms	
2.3.5. Anxiety	
2.3.6. Parental History of Hypertension	
2.4. Blood Pressure	
2.5. Other Variables of Interest	
2.6. Procedure	
2.7. Data Analysis	



3. Results	59
3.1. Sample Characteristics	59
3.2. Predictors of Systolic Blood Pressure	59
3.3. Predictors of Diastolic Blood Pressure	60
3.4. Independent Effects of General and Abdominal Obesity on	
Blood Pressure	60
4. Discussion	60
4.1. Limitations	63
5. Conclusions	64
CHAPTER FIVE: Discussion and Conclusions	70
1. Background and Purpose	70
2. Summary of Findings	71
3. Impact of Dissertation on the State of the Science	72
4. Recommendations for Clinical Practice and Research	74
5. Limitations	77
6. Summary	78
References	79
Vita	97



LIST OF TABLES

Table 3.1. S	Sample Characteristics	45
Table 3.2. D	Daily Frequency of Fruit and Vegetable Consumption	47
Table 3.3. P	Physical Activity	48
Table 3.4. Ir	ndices of Obesity	49
Table 4.1. S	Sample Characteristics	65
Table 4.2. P	Predictors of Systolic Blood Pressure	67
Table 4.3. P	Predictors of Diastolic Blood Pressure	68
Table 4.4. P	Predictive Ability of Abdominal Obesity Controlling for	
E	Body Mass Index	69



LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1. Map of the	Appalachian	Region			. 9
--------	---------------	-------------	--------	--	--	-----



CHAPTER ONE:

Introduction

1. Cardiovascular Diseases and Importance of Risk Factors

Over 23 million individuals worldwide will die from cardiovascular diseases (CVD) in 2030.¹ In the United States, approximately 84 million American adults have CVD² with heart and cerebrovascular diseases being the first and third leading causes of death, respectively.³ In 2010, the overall death rate from CVD was 235.5 per 100,000 with one American dying of CVD every 40 seconds.² Cardiovascular diseases are also economically burdensome. The direct and indirect costs of CVD were approximately 315.4 billion in 2010,² an increase of more than 10% compared to 2007.⁴

A healthy lifestyle is a fundamental component of CVD prevention and ideal cardiovascular health. In 2010, the American Heart Association (AHA) defined national goals for ideal cardiovascular health that included meeting lifestyle-related recommendations for physical activity and dietary behaviors, not smoking, and a body mass index (BMI) less than 25kg/m².⁵ Data from several large epidemiological studies have shown that risk for developing CVD⁶ and risk of CVD mortality^{7,8} is significantly reduced in those with lower risk factor profiles.

2. Emerging Adults, College, and Cardiovascular Disease Risk

Given the association of healthy lifestyles with lower risk factor burden in CVD prevention, it is important to study populations whose lifestyles place them at risk for CVD. Emerging adulthood is a distinct period of development among those 18-25 years of age⁹ when behaviors that threaten health may develop and



extend into later adulthood.¹⁰ Emerging adults are distinct because they are beyond the period of dependency in adolescence but have not taken on full responsibilities of adulthood.¹⁰ This population may be at greater risk for developing unhealthy behaviors due to less parental monitoring, growing independence, and financial instability. A growing population of at-risk emerging adults are those attending college. In 2011, 42% of 18-24 year old emerging adults enrolled in college compared to 36% in 2006.¹¹ Many college students develop unhealthy lifestyle behaviors that increase CVD risk including diets low in fruits and vegetables, frequent consumption of fast foods, and physical inactivity.¹²⁻¹⁷

There is growing awareness regarding the importance of addressing CVD in high-risk environments such as rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky.¹⁸ Emerging adults in college from rural areas may be at greater risk for CVD compared to those living in urban areas due to poorer socioeconomic conditions and environmental barriers such as limited access to parks and recreation facilities for physical activity. Lower income^{19,20} and lower education^{21,22} are associated with unhealthy behaviors, and living in a socioeconomically disadvantaged environment carries a risk of heart disease independent of individual characteristics and behaviors.²³⁻²⁵ Unhealthy behaviors that develop during emerging adulthood among those living in rural areas may partially contribute to higher rates of CVD observed in older adults in these regions. Attending college is associated with behaviors that increase CVD risk regardless of location; however, college students living in rural areas may be at greater risk.



www.manaraa.com

Determining whether regional differences in CVD risk factors exist among emerging adults in college may lead to developmentally appropriate healthpromoting interventions to reduce CVD disparities in rural areas. Healthy behaviors that are initiated during emerging adulthood can translate to the maintenance of optimal cardiovascular health through adulthood.^{5,10}

Numerous investigators have demonstrated that weight gain is common in college students^{14,15,26,27} leading to general²⁸ and abdominal obesity^{29,30} in this population. Many college students also have hypertension.^{25,26} Although general and abdominal obesity are risk factors for hypertension,³¹⁻³³ the relationship between body fat distribution and blood pressure in college students has remained largely unexplored. Further, researchers have yet to establish which simple measure of obesity is the best predictor of blood pressure. A better understanding of the relationship between body fat distribution and blood students and blood pressure among college students may assist healthcare professionals identify those at high risk for hypertension so that appropriate risk-reducing interventions can be implemented.

3. Characteristics of Rural Appalachia Kentucky

Kentucky is part of the Appalachian region, which spans 13 states from northern Mississippi to southern New York and encompasses 205,000 square miles (Figure 1.).³⁴ Appalachia's geographic boundaries were defined by a 1965 act of Congress that also established the Appalachian Regional Commission (ARC).



Of Kentucky's 54 Appalachian counties, all but four are considered nonmetropolitan or rural.³⁵ Approximately 27% of Kentucky's population reside in Appalachia.³⁶ Appalachian Kentuckians have significantly fewer years of formal education compared to the rest of the nation. More than 26% of Kentucky Appalachians have less than a high school education compared to roughly 14% for both non-Appalachian Kentuckians and the nation. Further, only 13% of Appalachian adults aged 25 years and older have at least a bachelor's degree compared to almost 24% among non-Appalachian Kentuckians and 29% nationally. The median household income among Appalachian Kentuckians is about \$14,500 less than non-Appalachia Kentuckians and almost \$21,000 less than the national median household income. Similarly, poverty rates in Appalachian Kentucky (25.1%) are significantly higher compared to non-Appalachian Kentucky (16.1%) and the nation (14.9%). The majority of Appalachian Kentucky counties are considered "distressed" indicating they rank economically in the bottom 10% of all counties nationwide.³⁷ Living in a distressed Appalachian county is independently associated with developing diabetes,³⁸ and diabetes is diagnosed earlier among people living in distressed counties.³⁹ Given these findings, CVD risk behaviors may also be greater among emerging adults attending college and living in distressed rural Appalachian counties.

4. Cardiovascular Disease in Kentucky

In 2013, Kentucky had the 8th highest rate of CVD mortality at a rate of 299.8 per 100,000 people.⁴⁰ Several health behaviors and factors may be



associated with these high mortality rates. Kentucky currently ranks 9th in adults with obesity at 31.3%,⁴⁰ which is a 10% increase since 2000.⁴¹ Nearly 30% of Kentucky adults are physically inactive, the 5th highest in the nation.⁴⁰ Kentucky also has the highest percent of adult smokers in the nation at 28.3%. Kentucky ranks 5th worst nationally in percentage of adults with hypertension with approximately 39% affected.⁴¹

Significant regional differences exist in cardiovascular mortality in Kentucky. Age-adjusted cardiovascular death rates are much higher in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky compared to more urban, central Kentucky.⁴² Several CVD risk factors including obesity, physical inactivity, depression, and anxiety are also higher among adults in the rural Eastern Appalachian region of the state.⁴³ Regional differences in risk factors may be even greater among emerging adults in college due to environmental influences and changes in behaviors that occur during this period. However, researchers have yet to examine if there are regional differences in CVD risk factors in this population. Identifying risk factors that are greater among emerging adults in college living in rural Appalachia Kentucky will assist researchers in developing targeted interventions to reduce the high burden of CVD in this region.

5. Purpose of Dissertation

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine factors associated with CVD risk among emerging adults in college. In each of the three studies, a different facet of cardiovascular risk was examined. First, a qualitative research study was conducted to examine perceptions associated with cardiovascular risk



among men in college. Second, a cross-sectional study was conducted to compare differences in CVD risk behaviors and obesity between emerging adults in college living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky and urban Fayette County, Kentucky. Third, a cross-sectional study was conducted to compare measures of general and abdominal obesity in predicting blood pressure among emerging adults in college.

6. Summary of Subsequent Chapters

Chapter Two is a report of a qualitative descriptive study to examine perceptions related to CVD risk among emerging adult males in college. Among emerging adults, the prevalence of CVD and many risk behaviors are higher among men than women. Despite emerging adults having knowledge of CVD risk, many do not engage in healthy behaviors, even if they are at high risk for CVD. Prior qualitative researchers explored college students' perceptions of general health and weight-related behaviors, but did not include perceptions specific to CVD risk among men in college. To address this gap, 10 male college students who were free of CVD and were not enrolled in a health major were recruited. Data were obtained from audio-recorded interviews that took place at mutually agreed upon college locations. ATLAS ti (v5) was used to manage the data, and content analysis was used for data analysis. A key finding of this study was the influence of environment on CVD risk behaviors discussed by college men. This led to the hypothesis tested in the study reported in Chapter Three that students living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky would have more CVD risk behaviors and obesity than those in urban, Fayette County, Kentucky.



www.manaraa.com

This is the first study to compare differences in CVD risk behaviors and obesity between emerging adults in college from rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky (n = 61) and urban Fayette County, Kentucky (n = 57). Students were eligible if they were (a) currently enrolled in college, (b) ages 18-25 years (c) were lifetime residents of Perry and surrounding counties or Fayette County, (d) free of CVD, and (e) not pregnant. Self-administered questionnaires were used to collect data on physical activity, fruit and vegetable intake, frequency of fast food consumption, and smoking. A brief health examination was conducted to obtain height and weight, which were used to determine obesity and to obtain abdominal obesity. The high prevalence of general and abdominal obesity found in this study led to the study reported in Chapter Four to compare measures of general vs. abdominal obesity in predicting blood pressure in emerging adults in college.

Chapter Four is a report of the comparison of the ability of measures of general vs. abdominal obesity to predict blood pressure in emerging adults in college using data collected in the study described in Chapter Three. Researchers have not established which measure of body fat distribution, general or abdominal, is the strongest independent predictor of blood pressure in this population. Self-administered questionnaires were used to collect data on sociodemographics, behavioral characteristics, depressive symptoms, anxiety, and parental history of hypertension. A brief health exam was conducted to obtain measures of general obesity, abdominal obesity, and blood pressure.



www.manaraa.com

Multivariable linear regressions were conducted to determine which measure of obesity was most predictive of blood pressure among emerging adults in college.

Chapter Five is a discussion of CVD risk among college students that synthesizes data from the three studies in this dissertation to address gaps in the literature and provide direction for future research and practice regarding the cardiovascular health of this population. Special emphasis is placed on interventions to reduce CVD risk, particularly in college students who live in highrisk areas such as rural Appalachian Kentucky.

Copyright © Demetrius A. Abshire 2014



www.manaraa.com



Figure 1. Map of the Appalachian Region

Map by: Appalachian Regional Commission, November 2009.



CHAPTER TWO:

Perceptions Related to Cardiovascular Disease Risk in Emerging Adult College Males

1. Introduction

Cardiovascular disease (CVD) affects nearly 84 million adults in the United States and approximately half of those are under 60 years of age.¹ Investigators suggest that the lifetime risk for developing CVD is higher among men than women² across most age groups.³ Because subclinical atherosclerosis begins early in adulthood,⁴ factors that are associated with greater cardiovascular risk among young men should be identified so that appropriate risk-reducing interventions can be developed. Emerging adult males, those 18-25 years of age,⁵ may be particularly at risk for engaging in CVD risk behaviors due to greater independence, less parental monitoring, and financial instability. Cardiovascular risk factors established during adolescence and emerging adulthood have been shown to extend into later adulthood,⁶⁻⁸ increasing the risk for CVD.

An important time to examine factors associated with CVD risk among emerging adult men is during the college years. College students engage in several high risk behaviors associated with CVD development including cigarette smoking, alcohol abuse, physical inactivity, and low fruit and vegetable consumption.⁹⁻¹² Weight gain is also common among college students¹³⁻¹⁶ with the frequency and magnitude of weight gain greater among men than women.^{17,18} Men in college also consume fast food more frequently than



females,^{19,20} which may explain greater weight gain among men. Students also perceive that it is acceptable to engage in unhealthy behaviors during their college years,⁹ which may be a barrier to incorporating CVD preventive behaviors. Because CVD risk behaviors such as physical inactivity, obesity, and smoking increase during the transition from adolescence to emerging adulthood,²¹ it is critical to have a greater understanding of perceptions related to CVD risk among emerging adults in college.

Emerging adults may perceive they are at low risk for developing CVD and may lack awareness of risk factors for future CVD. Vanhecke and colleagues reported that nearly 17% of college students in their sample perceived CVD as their greatest lifetime risk.²² Participants in the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) study generally lacked knowledge about CVD risk factors.²³ However, changes in CVD risk factors after 10 years of follow-up were similar in those with the most knowledge compared to those with the least knowledge. Researchers have also found that emerging adults, including those with an established cardiovascular risk factor, do not make improvements in health-risk behaviors when family members experience a heart attack or stroke.²⁴ These data suggest that emerging adults may not make lifestyle changes to reduce future risk of CVD despite their knowledge and awareness of CVD risk factors.

Qualitative studies are needed to understand perceptions related to CVD risk among emerging adult males in college so that appropriate risk-reducing interventions can be implemented. Among community college students, Boyd



and colleagues found that perceived invincibility to illness was a barrier towards healthy eating and exercise.²⁵ This may help explain why emerging adults don't make healthy lifestyle changes despite having knowledge of and risk factors for CVD. African American males in college perceive stress is the most important factor associated with hypertension, and relatives and close friends were perceived as having the strongest influence on healthy behaviors.²⁶ Additional qualitative studies exploring perceptions related to cardiovascular risk among emerging adult males in college may offer additional insight regarding factors that influence CVD risk behaviors. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to explore male college students' perceptions related to CVD risk.

2. Methods

2.1. Design

A qualitative descriptive design was used to understand male college students' perceptions related to CVD risk. A qualitative descriptive study is most appropriate when descriptions of phenomena are wanted. ²⁷ Qualitative descriptive studies produce findings that are closer to the data as provided by participants.²⁸

2.2. Participants

Purposive and snowball sampling were used to select 10 participants for this study. Inclusion criteria included the ability to speak English, Caucasian, male, ages 18-25 years, self-described as in good health, and a current undergraduate student. Exclusion criteria were being enrolled in a health-related major or having a cardiovascular-related medical diagnosis. Students enrolled in



a health-related major or having a cardiovascular condition may have different perceptions regarding cardiovascular risk and may engage in health promoting behaviors due to their education or disease management.

Participants were initially recruited with the assistance from a graduate research assistant who had a close relationship with a key informant in the desired population. The key informant approached members of the general college population whom he thought would be appropriate to interview and who met eligibility criteria. Those who were interested in participating in the study contacted the principal investigator ([PI], DAA) for additional information. The PI and student scheduled a date, time, and location to conduct the interview after determining eligibility criteria were met and the student confirmed his desire to participate.

2.3. Data Collection

Institutional Review Board approval was obtained prior to conducting the study. All participants provided signed informed consent prior to the interviews. Each participant was interviewed individually and completed a short demographic questionnaire prior to the interview. The PI conducted all interviews, which were semi-structured and followed an interview guide. Examples of questions included "Tell me about what the risk for cardiovascular disease mean to you," "Discuss your risks for future cardiovascular disease," and "What influence does your healthcare provider have on your perceived risks for cardiovascular disease?"

The interviews were conducted in a quiet, private setting that was mutually agreed upon between the participant and PI. Each interview lasted



approximately 30-45 minutes. Each participant received \$10 for completing the interview. All interviews were audio recorded and later transcribed verbatim by the PI.

2.4. Data Analysis

Content analysis was used to analyze the data. ²⁷ Data analysis was ongoing beginning at the start of the study. Data saturation was achieved by the 10th interview. The PI independently transcribed, coded, and analyzed the data.

The analysis process began by comparing the audio-recorded interviews to the transcriptions to correct any transcription errors and to assure accuracy. The data were managed, coded, and analyzed using Atlas. Ti 5.0 (Berlin, Germany). After the data were coded, similar codes were combined in a data display to facilitate the emergence of categories and themes. A list of *a priori* codes was generated prior to analyzing the data. Examples included physical activity, stress, and smoking. Additional codes emerged during data analysis. Examples included habits, inconvenience, and time constraints. Data displays depicting the frequencies of the codes were created to guide the reduction of the coded data into broader categories. This process resulted in a description of perceived factors related to cardiovascular health as provided by the participants.

2.5. Rigor

We used two strategies recommended by Creswell²⁹ to enhance the rigor of our study. Credibility of our findings was confirmed by performing member checks with three of the participants. The PI contacted these participants and provided a brief overview containing themes and subthemes from the data. The



PI asked the participants whether the themes and subthemes accurately reflected their perceptions as provided during the interview; each participant confirmed the findings. We acknowledged researcher bias prior to the initiation of the study by writing down assumptions, prejudices, and biases about perceptions we expected to hear from the students.

3. Results

Two themes emerged from the analysis: (a) barriers to implementing healthy lifestyle choices and (b) perceptions about modifiable and non-modifiable CVD risk factors. Several subthemes within each theme were apparent. The direct quotes that are listed in each section reflect the men's statements regarding various themes and subthemes.

3.1. Barriers to Implementing Healthy Lifestyle Choices

3.1.1. Unhealthy food options outnumber healthy ones.

According to the participants, healthy food options were available on campus. However, these healthy options were overshadowed by availability of a greater number of unhealthy ones. One participant stated:

"I've gained some weight since coming to college. I think that there is a more of a lack of accessibility to those sorts of things [healthy foods]. Maybe not necessarily a lack, but an excess of the things that aren't so good for you. Kind of harder to choose the healthier stuff with all the poor stuff."

Six participants also discussed the all-you-can eat buffet style dining on campus. These participants spoke about how this type of dining promoted



unhealthy eating because they wanted to get the most food for their money. They also discussed how students overeat and choose unhealthy options in this setting. One participant noted:

"On Saturdays we'd get up after a long night and go and spend an hour there and just eat and eat and eat. You kind of...My roommate and I would go throughout the day and almost fast....cause when you ate at Dining Area A...probably isn't good...but we'd gorge ourselves. So it's kind of...It's there there's so much to eat you can...so you just do it." Another participant stated:

"If you go to Dining Area A or Dining Area B it's all you can eat buffet for a [single charge to a prepaid card]. I tend to think that people overeat and make poor health decisions when you're in that setting."

3.1.2. Time constraints.

Time constraints were considered a major barrier to living a healthy lifestyle. Participants discussed having various responsibilities while being a college student such as classes, course work, employment, and social commitments. Participants often felt it was difficult to engage in healthy behaviors while having to manage their other responsibilities. One participant noted:

"For me personally, I'm involved with my church and that takes up some time...and I'm involved with the campus ministry which takes up some time. Obviously school work taking 19 hours each semester...and um...homework and papers...and the social life...uh...trying to balance all



of that you have to cut some stuff out...I probably made a poor choice to cut exercise out."

3.1.3. Convenience.

Participants indicated that lack of convenience was a barrier to engaging in healthy behaviors. Those who lived on campus discussed the challenges of using the recreational facility due to distance to the facility and limited parking nearby. They felt that having smaller exercise areas in each dorm would facilitate being more active. Participants who lived off-campus in housing with an exercise facility felt that they would be less likely to exercise if an exercise facility was less available.

Participants' diets were also influenced by convenience. Those who lived on campus indicated they would most often eat at the campus dining area closest to their dorm. For some participants, however, the most convenient dining area was perceived as having unhealthy food options. Although other campus dining facilities offered healthier food options, the convenience of dining close to their dorm was a stronger factor influencing the students' dining location. One participant explained:

"You live in Dorm A, Dining Area A is right there...so convenient...the easiest thing to do so why not do it...as opposed to walking to Dining Area B. South campus you have Dining Area C and...which...is buffet and you can't eat healthy there."



Participants living off-campus also described how convenience influenced their dietary habits, particularly the time required for meal preparation. When asked about the types of foods he prepared, one participant stated:

"Well...let's see...usually macaroni and cheese and ramen noodles. They are easy to make and filling I guess. Frozen pizzas, hotdogs and hamburgers...sandwiches. A lot of sandwiches and stuff like that." Another participant stated:

"...I'd love to go have a healthy meal but it would cost me \$10 for all the vegetables...cut them up would take an hour. I can heat this up and be done in 10 minutes."

3.1.4. Social influences.

Various social influences were perceived as barriers to engaging in behaviors associated with optimal cardiovascular health. For example, participants discussed social pressure for men to focus on "getting bigger" through strength training rather than emphasizing aerobic activity for cardiovascular health. One participant stated:

"You feel everyone else is expecting out of you...eat meat, exercise hard, and get big. No one is whispering much about, you got to make sure your heart is alright, you know?"

Another participant stated:

"...a lot of guys are lifting weights to build muscle mass. A lot of guys probably struggle with some body image things too."



Participants also discussed how peer influences promoted unhealthy behavior. One participant also described how his food intake was influenced by those with whom he dined:

"Everyone was eating a lot...and...uh...so...you really didn't think there was anything wrong with it. Everyone around you goes up for three plates of food so why not you?"

3.1.5. Threats to health must be perceived as immediate before action is taken.

One of the biggest barriers to engaging in healthy lifestyle behaviors was choosing not to think about long-term behavioral consequences with respect to CVD. Participants felt that if a threat to health was not immediate, they would not address it. They also felt the risk of CVD did not feel immediate because similaraged peers did not experience these events. For example, one participant stated:

"I guess you don't really hear about young men having heart attacks and going to the hospital. You just deal with older people...we don't think about it. When you get older your co-workers and your parents and other people you know start having problems and you start to think about it."

Participants felt that healthcare providers should express a sense of urgency when encouraging CVD risk reducing behaviors. If a healthcare provider emphasized how current behaviors would lead to CVD in the future, participants would initially consider the recommendation, but ultimately not change. However, if the healthcare provider emphasized how the behavior could immediately



contribute to CVD the recommendation would be more meaningful and the behavior change more likely to be sustained. One participant remarked:

"It's one of those things that if a doctor tells you then he has to imply the immediate risks to me. You know he'd basically have to lie to me and say you have to do it now...it's going to be a problem now...to get me to actually do anything...they would have to see the immediate risks before they will do anything...or else they'd say 'well...I'll fix it later."

3.2. Perceptions about Modifiable and Non-Modifiable CVD Risk Factors

Participants discussed the importance of behavioral factors in preventing CVD, particularly being physically active and eating healthy. They indicated these behaviors were vital to promote and maintain good cardiovascular health. However, they indicated they did not always engage in these healthy behaviors.

3.2.1. Diet and physical activity.

Participants spoke about the importance of diet and physical activity and described their own behaviors to promote cardiovascular health. Two participants echoed:

"Just try to stay away from fast food as much as possible. And making time for meals. Try to eat three meals...three healthy meals a day. Um...eat fruits and vegetables...stuff like that." "I like to get out on my bike...you know I feel like I accomplished something if I come home and I'm out of breath and sweating...I feel like I've done work and I feel like my body will thank me for that."



Although the participants suggested that being physically active was important for good cardiovascular health, they spoke about how their activity consisted mostly of lifting weights instead of aerobic exercises. However, they perceived aerobic activities as more important for heart health. Despite the beneficial perception of aerobic activity, most participants stated they neglected aerobic activities.

3.2.2. Lifestyles of men increase risk.

Participants perceived that the lifestyles of men including fast food consumption and neglecting aerobic activity increased the risk for CVD. Participants perceived that men are less likely to prepare their own meals, be less conscious of the foods they eat, and less likely to engage in aerobic activity. One participant stated:

"I think most girls will eat better than guys will. You know guys will get burgers and a pizza or something like that. Girls won't exactly eat like that...they'll eat smaller meals for the most part...They'll get the vegetable wrap or whatever and we'll be like I'll get this or whatever because it's easier to get or tastes better. So I think men are the higher risk."

Another participant stated:

"...you see a lot more women at the gym...their risk might be less than men because they put so more attention on their health."

3.2.3. Family history perceived as an important risk factor.

Participants perceived family history was an important factor related to their cardiovascular health. Participants felt if someone in their family had CVD,



they would have a greater risk for a similar problem in the future. However, they also indicated family history was not the sole factor influencing cardiovascular health. According to participants, lifestyle choices would determine the extent to which family history would affect the development of CVD. As one participant stated:

"Some people are predetermined...more likely to have a certain disease or a certain condition...but um...I think I could also say that most people with work could overcome that partially at least...I mean most of the time." Participants felt if their risk was greater due to a positive family history of CVD, they could overcome this risk by making healthier dietary choices and engaging in physical activity. Overall, these participants felt in control over whether or not

4. Discussion

they would develop CVD.

We explored perceptions related to CVD risk in emerging adult males in college. Understanding perceptions related to CVD risk is critical to promoting cardiovascular health behaviors in this population. College students generally have a diet low in fruits and vegetables,^{13,30} consume fast food frequently,¹⁹ and many do not exercise regularly.¹⁷ Our study provides valuable insight on how emerging adult males in college perceive factors that are associated with these behaviors.

Participants perceived several barriers to consuming healthy foods while being in college: abundance of unhealthy foods on campus, time constraints, convenience, and social influences. These findings are consistent with other



qualitative studies exploring perceptions related to health behaviors among college students.^{9,31,32} In our study, lack of healthy food choices was not perceived as a barrier to healthy eating on campus suggesting that other factors are associated with healthy dietary habits in this population. College students have previously reported lacking the motivation to choose healthy food options even when they are available,²⁵ and data suggest that other factors such as cost, convenience, and taste are important factors influencing food choice³³ especially fast food.^{10,20} Despite having access to healthy foods on campus, our participants reported difficulty choosing healthier options because they were overshadowed by the abundance of unhealthier options. With fixed-price buffet dining, food costs would be the same for healthy and unhealthy options suggesting that factors other than cost and convenience, such as greater access to unhealthy food and taste, may more strongly influence poorer eating habits in this population. Colleges could promote healthier eating habits by reducing the amount of unhealthier food options and increasing the amount of tasty, healthier options.

Buffet-style dining on campus was perceived as a barrier to healthy eating habits. Participants felt overconsumption of unhealthy foods was associated with this type of environment, which is consistent with previous research.³¹ Wengreen and Moncur speculated that the association between eating breakfast and weight gain in their study could be due to all-you-can-eat campus dining.¹⁵ Allirot and colleagues found that healthy, normal-weight men aged 22-33 years consumed approximately 1,433 calories during a buffet-style lunch.³⁴ Kral and others found


that adolescent males consumed 44% and 133% more energy from food and beverages, respectively, during a lunch buffet compared to females.³⁵ Reducing the amount of high-calorie, low-nutrient foods and replacing them with lower calorie, nutrient-dense options may be one strategy to promote healthier eating in buffet-style settings. Colleges could also limit the number of buffet-style dining facilities in order to promote healthier eating and prevent weight gain while students are on campus.

Although data suggest that many college students are physically inactive,¹² physical activity was perceived as an important factor related to cardiovascular health among the participants in our study. However, many college students define health as the absence of disease and being free of psychological and physical problems,⁹ which may be a barrier to engaging in physical activity. Participants in our study also discussed that behavior change would not occur unless there was an immediate health threat. This finding is similar to what others have described in the literature. Davies and colleagues found that men in college are aware of having health needs but do not take action to address them.³⁶ Men in their study stated that they would not receive help unless in extreme physical or emotional pain. Healthcare providers are in a unique position to promote physical activity in this population by focusing on immediate health risks that are associated with sedentary lifestyles. Although healthcare professionals are less frequently consulted for health-related information compared to the Internet, family, and friends, students perceived information is most believable from medical staff and health educators.¹²



Participants in our study indicated that healthcare provider recommendations are valued and may be acted upon if presented in the context of an immediate cardiovascular health need. Participants also reported that time constraints and convenience were factors that influenced health behaviors such as engaging in physical activity, which is consistent with previous research.³¹ Internet- or emailbased programs that emphasize easy ways to incorporate physical activity may be options to encourage physical activity on college campuses. Studies have shown that web-based programs are effective in increasing short-term physical activity,^{37,38} and data from work settings suggest that email-based programs are effective in increasing moderate and vigorous physical activity.³⁹ Programs that have worked in the workplace could be adapted to help college males overcome perceived barriers impacting their ability to engage in physical activity. These programs may be most effective if administered by healthcare professionals or medical educators since they are the most trusted source of health-related information by college students.

4.1. Limitations

Several limitations of this study should be noted. Although data saturation was achieved through 10 interviews, including students from diverse backgrounds may have revealed additional perceptions regarding cardiovascular risk that are racially or culturally specific. For example, previous qualitative research has explored factors related to hypertension among African American college students with findings suggesting that racial stereotypes and prejudice are major stressors in this population.²⁶ While we acknowledge the importance of



exploring perceptions related to CVD risk among ethnic and racial minorities, we did not pursue a diverse sample for this study as the intent was not to compare differences in perceptions across various racial and ethnic backgrounds. We felt that perceptions related to CVD risk would be more consistent in a smaller, more homogenous sample compared to a diverse one. Given that qualitative studies exploring perceptions specific to CVD risk are scarce among college students, future research in other samples is warranted. Another limitation is that the sample consisted primarily of freshmen and sophomores. The perceptions of college students who have had more time to adjust and respond to the college environment may be different from those entering college. The living arrangements of the participants may have also influenced their perceptions related to CVD risk. Brunt and colleagues found that students who live offcampus are more likely to be overweight or obese, consume alcohol, smoke cigarettes, and consume a lower variety of fruits and vegetables than those living on-campus.⁴⁰ Given these behavioral differences, perceptions related to CVD risk might also be different between these two groups of students. These differences should be considered for future studies exploring perceptions of CVD risk in this population.

5. Conclusions

This study provides evidence that emerging adult college males perceive that healthy lifestyle behaviors are crucial for achieving optimal cardiovascular health, but many barriers prohibit their ability and desire to engage in these behaviors. Future research and health promotion efforts should address barriers



to eating healthy and engaging in aerobic activity on college campuses. Efforts should also be directed toward helping students to perceive health issues as immediately concerning to promote engaging in risk-reducing behaviors.

Copyright © Demetrius A. Abshire 2014



CHAPTER THREE:

Regional Differences in Cardiovascular Disease Risk Factors among Emerging Adults in College

1. Introduction

The Appalachian region of the United States spans 13 statues extending from southern New York to northern Alabama. Coronary heart disease mortality in Appalachia is significantly higher in rural compared to urban areas.¹ Rates of cardiovascular disease (CVD) mortality are particularly high in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky.² Several individual sociodemographic and built environmental factors may be associated greater burden of CVD in this area including higher levels of poverty, lower education attainment,³ limited medical care resources,¹ difficulty traveling to grocery stores,⁴ and limited opportunities for engaging in physical activity.⁵⁻⁷ Many CVD risk factors are also prevalent among adults in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky including smoking,⁸ physical inactivity,⁹ low fruit and vegetable consumption,⁹ and obesity.¹⁰

Broader neighborhood factors may also influence CVD behaviors and outcomes. Neighborhood poverty is associated with remaining obese during the transition from adolescence to young adulthood,¹¹ and living in a disadvantaged neighborhood is associated with a greater likelihood of developing coronary heart disease independent of individual-level factors.¹² Barker and colleagues found that living in distressed Appalachian counties was independently associated with a greater likelihood of developing diabetes¹³ and that diabetes is diagnosed



earlier among residents living in these areas.¹⁴ These findings suggest that the environment exerts multiple degrees of influence on CVD risk.

Environmental influences on CVD risk behaviors may be particularly strong in emerging adults. Emerging adulthood is the developmental period between 18-25 years of age¹⁵ during which high risk behaviors can form. Emerging adults are past the period of dependency in adolescence but have not taken on full responsibilities of adulthood.¹⁶ Evidence suggests that unhealthy behaviors worsen as emerging adults transition into adulthood.^{17,18} Emerging adults in college may engage in more unhealthy behaviors because they are less monitored by parents, have greater independence, and are in an environment associated with unhealthy behaviors. Many emerging adults in college do not consume the recommended amount of fruits and vegetables and many are physically inactive.¹⁹⁻²² As students continue through college, their aerobic activity declines¹⁹ and weight gain is common.^{19,21,23,24} Many of these modifiable risk factors significantly contribute to mortality²⁵ and are associated with CVD development.²⁶ Emerging adulthood is therefore a critical developmental period to examine cardiovascular risk factors, particularly among those attending college.

Because unhealthy CVD behaviors and obesity present during emerging adulthood persist into adulthood,^{17,18} the higher burden of CVD observed in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky may be partially due to regional differences in risk factors among emerging adults. Despite the evidence regarding the high prevalence of CVD and risk factors among adults living in rural, Appalachian



Kentucky, no one has compared differences in CVD risk behaviors and obesity between healthy emerging adults in college living in rural, Appalachian Kentucky compared to those living in urban, non-Appalachian Kentucky. Therefore, the purpose of this study was to compare differences in CVD risk behaviors and obesity between emerging adults in college living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky and urban Fayette County, Kentucky. These two regions have contrasting levels of CVD risk factors and outcomes among older adults and differ widely with respect to economic and environmental factors associated with CVD. It was hypothesized that students living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky would have higher levels of CVD risk behaviors and obesity than those living in urban Fayette County, Kentucky. A greater understanding of regional differences in CVD risk behaviors and obesity in this population may assist researchers, healthcare providers, public health professionals, policy makers, and the community in developing targeted interventions to reduce CVD risk behaviors that lead to disparities in CVD outcomes.

2. Methods

2.1. Design, Setting, and Sample

A cross-sectional design was used to compare regional differences in CVD risk behaviors and obesity between emerging adults in college living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky and urban Fayette County, Kentucky. The eight rural, Eastern Appalachian counties where data were collected have some of the highest rates of poverty and unemployment in the nation with approximately 21-36%³ of the populations in poverty and 10-15% unemployed.²⁷



These counties are defined as "distressed" by the Appalachian Regional Commission indicating they rank economically in the bottom 10% of all counties nationwide.²⁸ Residents in these counties also have some of the worst overall health in the state²⁹ with rates of heart disease mortality significantly higher than the national average.³⁰ In contrast, urban Fayette County, Kentucky is among those with the lowest rates of poverty and unemployment in the state.^{3,27} The Kentucky Institute of Medicine ranked Fayette County as 6th best in the state for general health.²⁹

One hundred and eighteen students were recruited from a community college and a four-year institution in urban, central Kentucky and a community college in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky. Students were eligible if they were 18-25 years of age, enrolled in college, and a lifetime resident of either rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky or urban Fayette County, Kentucky. Lifetime residency of these counties was a criterion to minimize residential self-selection bias, which suggests that people choose their residence based upon resources supporting their lifestyle preferences.³¹⁻³³ Students with a CVD-related diagnosis were excluded because they might be engaged in healthier lifestyle behaviors as part of their disease management. Pregnant students were excluded because pregnancy impacts measures of general and central obesity.

2.2. Measures

2.2.1. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

Fruit and vegetable consumption was measured using questions from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)³⁴ regarding the frequency



www.manaraa.com

of consuming 100% pure fruit juices, fruit, cooked or canned beans, dark green vegetables, orange-colored vegetables, and other vegetables. The BRFSS questions regarding fruit and vegetable consumption are particularly useful for determining disparities in fruit and vegetable intake.³⁵ Participants had the option to list the daily, weekly, or monthly frequency of consumption of each item during the past 30 days. Fruits and vegetables consumed daily were multiplied by 30 and those consumed weekly were multiplied by four to compute a monthly total. Daily fruit and vegetable intake was calculated by summing the monthly consumption of each item and dividing by 30 days. Fruit and vegetable consumption was defined as the daily frequency of consuming individual fruits and vegetables as well as total fruits and vegetables.

2.2.2. Fast Food Consumption

Frequency of fast food consumption was measured using a behavioral questionnaire that included a question on how many times per month food is consumed at fast food restaurants.

2.2.3. Smoking

Smoking was self-reported from questions asking participants to indicate their smoking status, number of cigarettes smoked per day, and use of smokeless tobacco.

2.2.4. Physical Activity

Physical activity was measured by the International Physical Activity Questionnaire short form (IPAQ-SF), which was designed to be used by adults between the ages of 15-69.³⁶ The IPAQ-SF contains seven questions regarding



the frequency and time spent in vigorous and moderate intensity activity, walking, and sitting. Weekly time spent in vigorous physical activity was calculated by multiplying the self-reported number of days engaged in vigorous physical activity by the self-reported time spent engaged in vigorous physical activity on one of those days. Weekly time spent engaged in moderate physical activity and walking were calculated similarly. Physical inactivity was defined as the number of minutes per day that participants report sitting on an average weekday.

2.2.5. Overweight, Obesity, and Abdominal Obesity

Overweight and obesity were defined according to body mass index (BMI) categories. Participants were defined as underweight, normal weight, overweight, or obese class I-III according to standard BMI cut-points (<18.5, 18.5-24.9, 25-29.9, 30-34.99, 35-39.99, and ≥ 40 kg/m², respectively).³⁷ Body weight was measured using a portable, mechanical digital scale to the nearest 0.1lb and height was measured using a portable stadiometer to the nearest 0.1cm with participants wearing no shoes and light clothing.

Abdominal obesity was defined as waist circumference (WC) >102cm for men and >88cm for women and was measured according to clinical guidelines.³⁸ An anthropometric tape measure was placed in a horizontal plane around the abdomen starting at the upper lateral border of the right iliac crest at the mid axillary line. The tape was snug without compressing the skin. Measurements were taken at the end of normal expiration and to the nearest 0.1cm. Sagittal abdominal diameter (SAD) was obtained using Holtain-Kahn abdominal calipers while the participant was standing with arms folded across the chest. The non-



moveable arm of the caliper was placed at the small of the back and the moveable arm positioned at the umbilicus. The measurement was taken to the nearest 0.1cm at the end of normal expiration. Sagittal abdominal diameter allows for assessment of abdominal tissue because subcutaneous fat, which is typically located along the flanks, is not measured.³⁹ Measuring SAD with participants standing has been shown to be as valid as taking it supine.⁴⁰ There are no established SAD values defining high abdominal obesity.

Participants were placed into one of four CVD disease risk categories based upon BMI and WC as outlined in the National Heart Lung and Blood Institute's (NHLBI) obesity guidelines.³⁷ Increased risk was defined as overweight without abdominal obesity. High risk was defined as overweight with abdominal obesity or class I obese without abdominal obesity. Very high risk was defined as class I obese with abdominal obesity or class II obese regardless abdominal obesity. Extremely high risk was defined as class III obese regardless of abdominal obesity.

2.2.6. Other Variables of Interest

A standard, self-administered sociodemographic questionnaire was used to gather data on age, sex, race/ethnicity, household income, insurance status, having a primary care provider, and living arrangements.

2.3. Procedure

Institutional Review Board approval was obtained at each recruitment site prior to study initiation. Students were predominantly recruited on college campuses using recruitment tables staffed with study personnel. Flyers were also



sent to students at each site by email and were posted at high traffic locations. The Center for Clinical and Translational Sciences at the four-year college site also provided recruitment assistance through a clinical research opportunities database.

Students who were interested and eligible scheduled a meeting with the PI at a mutually agreed upon date and time to review the study, provide written informed consent, complete study questionnaires, and undergo a brief health examination where height, weight, and measures of abdominal obesity were assessed. Students were entered into two separate cash lottery drawings following completion of all study related activities. The "low cash lottery" consisted of 10 prizes of \$25. The "high cash lottery" consisted of 2 prizes of \$250. Due to additional funding received after study initiation, most students were also compensated \$10 for their participation.

2.4. Data Analysis

Sociodemographic characteristics were summarized using means with standard deviations or percentages as appropriate, and groups were compared using independent sample tests and chi-square. Independent sample t-tests, independent samples Mann-Whitney U tests, or chi-square tests of association were used to test the hypothesis that CVD risk behaviors and obesity would be greater in emerging adults living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky compared to urban Fayette County, Kentucky.

Mean adjusted daily activity was used because some participants provided unusable data on the IPAQ-SF by checking "Not Sure/Don't Know" for



time spent in vigorous activity (n = 2, urban; n = 1 rural), moderate activity (n = 1 urban; n = 6 rural), walking (n = 3, urban; n = 6 rural), and time spent sitting (n = 5, urban; n = 14 rural). Mean adjusted data were also used for missing data among the rural group on time spent in moderate physical activity (n = 2) and walking (n = 1). The means of each activity according to each geographic area were used for unusable and missing data. Physical activity data from one participant in the rural Appalachian group were excluded from analyses due to providing an implausible value for days engaged in moderate physical activity. Fruit and vegetable data from four participants were excluded due to missing data (n = 1, urban; n = 2, rural) and implausible values (n = 1, rural). Data on frequency of fast food consumption were missing on two participants in the rural Appalachian group.

Independent samples Mann-Whitney U tests were used to compare differences in fruit and vegetable consumption and physical activity due to these variables being non-normally distributed. Levene's test for equality of variances was used when comparing group means using independent sample t-tests. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance for all analyses. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 22.



www.manaraa.com

3. Findings

3.1. Characteristics of Participants

Table 3.1 shows the characteristics of the sample. The mean age of the sample was approximately 20 years and 56% was female. The majority identified as Caucasian/White. Participants completed approximately 2 years of college with nearly 60% living with family. Fewer students currently had insurance coverage or a primary care provider and more reported lower household incomes compared to when they were growing up. The rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky group was approximately one year younger than the urban Fayette County, Kentucky group (referred hereafter to the rural Appalachian and urban groups, respectively) and completed nearly 1.5 more years of school. A greater percentage of the rural Appalachian group was Caucasian/White, lived with family, and reported lower current household incomes compared to those in the urban group. More students in the rural Appalachian group did not currently have medical insurance or a primary care provider.

3.2. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

Table 3.2 shows differences in fruit and vegetable consumption between the groups. The urban group consumed orange and dark green colored vegetables more frequently compared to the rural Appalachian group. The urban group also consumed cooked or canned beans more frequently. There were no other differences in fruit and vegetable intake between the two groups.



www.manaraa.com

3.3. Frequency of Fast Food Consumption

There were no significant differences between the rural Appalachian (n = 59) and urban (n = 57) groups in monthly frequency of fast food consumption (9.9 \pm 8 vs. 7.84 \pm 7.04 times per month, respectively, p=0.145).

3.4. Smoking

More than triple the number of students in the rural Appalachian group were current or recent smokers compared to those in the urban group (43% vs. 14%, p=0.001). One fifth of students in the rural Appalachian group reported using smokeless tobacco compared to no students in the urban group (p<0.001). Among current smokers, there were no differences in the average number of cigarettes or cigars smoked per day between the groups.

3.5. Physical Activity

Table 3.3 shows differences in physical activity behaviors between the two groups. The rural Appalachian group spent fewer days engaging in vigorous physical activity and spent fewer minutes engaging in weekly vigorous physical activity compared to the urban group. During the prior week, the rural Appalachian group walked fewer days per week and spent less total time walking per week than the urban group. There were no other group differences in physical activity behaviors.

3.6. Overweight, Obesity, and Abdominal Obesity

Table 3.4 shows differences in general and central obesity between the groups. The rural Appalachian group weighed more, had a higher BMI and SAD, more were obese, and a greater percentage were abdominally obese measured



by WC. More students in the rural Appalachian group had very high or extremely high risk for CVD according to NHLBI obesity risk categories.

4. Discussion

This was the first study to compare CVD risk behaviors and obesity between college students living in rural, Eastern Appalachian versus urban, non-Appalachian Kentucky. Findings from this study suggest that many CVD risk behaviors and obesity are more prevalent among emerging adults in college who are residents of rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky.

4.1. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

An adequate consumption of fruits and vegetables is a key component of healthy eating and CVD prevention.⁴¹ Adults living in rural areas were previously reported to be less likely to consume five or more daily servings of fruits and vegetables compared to those in non-rural areas⁴² and describe access barriers to healthy eating.⁴³ In our study, however, total fruit and vegetable consumption did not differ between the two groups. In a recent Foundation for a Healthy Kentucky health issues poll, 74% of Eastern Kentucky residents perceived it was easy to purchase fruits and vegetables compared to 81% statewide.⁴⁴ Therefore, comparable access to fruits and vegetables may explain why total fruit and vegetable consumption did not differ between the groups. Grocery store access may also play a minimal role in whether emerging adults consume the recommended amounts of fruits and vegetables. Boone-Heinonen and colleagues reported that supermarket and grocery store availability were generally not associated with meeting fruit and vegetable recommendations



among young adults participating in the CARDIA study.⁴⁵ These findings suggest that effective interventions are needed to improve fruit and vegetable intake among emerging adults in college.

4.2. Frequency of Fast Food Consumption

Although researchers have reported that college students frequently consume fast food,⁴⁶⁻⁴⁸ our study was the first to compare frequency of fast food consumption in rural Appalachian versus urban non-Appalachian students. Our finding that the monthly frequency of fast food consumption was comparable between the groups was somewhat surprising given college students have described cost as an important factor influencing fast food consumption,⁴⁷ and more students in the rural Appalachian group reported lower household incomes. This would suggest that factors other than cost were related to fast food consumption. More convenient access to fast food restaurants in urban versus rural areas may be one explanation. However, a definitive explanation will require additional research in which reasons for students' food choices are explored.

4.3. Smoking

Approximately 17% of 18-24 year olds in the United States are current cigarette smokers.⁴⁹ Data from the present study suggest smoking is more prevalent among emerging adults in college living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky. This is consistent with other data showing that smoking is a significant problem in this region with smoking rates ranging from 28-41% among adults in the rural Appalachian recruitment counties compared to 16% in urban Fayette County⁸ and approximately 18% nationally.⁴⁹ The finding of significantly greater



smoking among the rural Appalachian group may be due to high poverty levels in the region, as smoking rates are generally higher among those living below the poverty level.⁴⁹ Our findings highlight the need for effective smoking cessation interventions among college students living in rural Appalachian Kentucky.

4.4. Physical Activity

Geographic disparities in physical inactivity are noted in Kentucky with rates of physical inactivity among adults being higher in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky compared to the rest of the state. Further, Fayette County has the lowest rate of physical inactivity among all Kentucky counties.⁵⁰ Although data from this study suggest that time spent sitting was similar for both groups, the rural Appalachian group spent less time engaging in vigorous physical activity and walking compared to the urban group. Children and adults from rural Appalachian Kentucky have reported multiple barriers to engaging in physical activity such as poor access to recreation facilities, financial constraints, and time commitments.^{7,51,52} Residents from this region also indicate their environments are less safe compared to adults living in the remainder of the state.⁴⁴ Differences in activity between the two groups might also be due to the characteristics of the college campuses where students were recruited. Students recruited from urban Fayette County attended colleges with larger campuses situated near downtown dining, shopping, and recreation areas that are within walking distance. Those who attended college from rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky did not have similar opportunities within walking distance.



4.5. Overweight, Obesity, and Abdominal Obesity

General⁵³ and abdominal obesity⁵⁴ are strong CVD risk factors, and data suggest that obesity rates are high among adult residents of rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky.¹⁰ Data from our study suggest that the prevalence of obesity is higher among emerging adults in college from rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky compared to those from urban Fayette County. Nearly 20% of students in the rural Appalachian group were classified as class III obese with a BMI greater than 40kg/m². More students in the rural Appalachian group also had abdominal obesity. These findings are somewhat surprising given that there were no differences between the two groups on frequency of monthly fast food consumption, total fruit and vegetable consumption, and amount of time engaged in sedentary activity. However, less time spent in vigorous physical activity and walking may partially explain the significantly higher general and central obesity in the rural Appalachian group. Among younger adults (aged 18-30 years) participating in the CARDIA study, Gordon-Larsen and colleagues found that those who walked more gained less weight over 15 years.⁵⁵ Other unmeasured dietary factors may also have contributed to the obesity differences observed between the groups. Evidence suggests that increases in the frequency of eating and drinking occasions and portion sizes are the largest factors associated with total energy intake.⁵⁶ A more comprehensive dietary assessment in emerging adults from rural Appalachia is needed to understand the mechanisms associated with the greater obesity observed in these areas.



4.6. Limitations

Several limitations to this study should be noted. First, only emerging adults who were attending college were recruited to participate. Differences in CVD risk factors may exist between emerging adults who attend college versus those who do not attend college. Huh and colleagues found that emerging adults who did not attend college, moved out of parents' homes, and obtained employment had a greater risk of increasing cigarette use compared to those who attended college and were either starting a family or being in an uncommitted relationship.⁵⁷ Given these findings, it is possible that other CVD risk factors may differ between students who attend college compared to those who do not attend. Second, full-time versus part-time status was not evaluated in this study, and unhealthy behaviors may differ according to student status. Pelletier and Laska found that part-time college students were more likely than full-time students to purchase food on campus, which was associated with a higher intake of added sugar and fat.⁴⁸ Third, although the fruit and vegetable questions of this study are comparable with large epidemiological studies,^{58,59} they only consider the frequency of consumption rather than serving sizes. Similarly, the assessment of fast-food intake used did not account for the quality or quantity of food consumed at fast food restaurants. A more comprehensive dietary assessment is needed to further our understanding of regional differences in dietary intake among emerging adults in college. Fourth, means-adjusted data were used for the average time spent engaging in vigorous and moderate activity, walking, and sitting when participants responded "Not Sure/Don't Know"



for those questions on the IPAQ-SF. However, the findings remained essentially unchanged when excluding those participants from the analysis (data not shown). More objective measures of physical activity are needed in future studies when examining activity behaviors among emerging adults in college.

5. Conclusions

Emerging adults attending college from rural, Eastern Appalachia Kentucky were at greater risk for CVD due to having more unhealthy behaviors and higher prevalence of obesity compared to students from urban Fayette County, Kentucky. Greater differences in these CVD risk behaviors and obesity may contribute to the higher rates of CVD observed in rural, Eastern Appalachia Kentucky. Interventions to promote healthy lifestyle behaviors are needed in emerging adults in college who are residents of this region.

Copyright © Demetrius A. Abshire 2014



Variable	Rural	Urban Fayette	p-value
	Appalachian	Co.	
	n = 61	n = 57	
Age	19.7 ± 1.7	20.8 ± 1.8	0.001
Female	51%	61%	0.270
Caucasian/White	98%	72%	0.001
African American	0%	19%	
Education (yrs)	13.4± 1.1	14.8 ± 1.6	<0.001
Living with family	79%	35%	<0.001
Living with friends	2%	35%	
Living in dormitory	0%	14%	
Had Insurance			
Growing Up	92%	97%	0.281
Currently Has			
Insurance‡	50%	88%	<0.001
Had Primary Care			
Provider Growing Up	90%	91%	0.843
Currently Has Primary			
Care Provider	56%	77%	0.014
Household Income			
Growing Up†			
<\$30,000	60%	12%	
\$30,000-\$60,000	23%	25%	<0.001
>\$60,000	17%	63%	

Table 3.1. Sample Characteristics (n=118)



Table 3.1 (continued)			
Current Household			
Income‡			
<\$30,000	68%	45%	
\$30,000-\$60,000	18%	21%	0.016
>\$60,000	13%	34%	

‡ Rural Appalachian: n = 60; Urban Fayette Co.: n = 56

† Rural Appalachian: n = 60



Variable	Rural	Urban Fayette	p-value
	Appalachian	Co.	
	Mdn (IQR)	Mdn (IQR)	
	n = 58	n = 56	
Cooked or Canned Beans	0.07 (0-0.27)	0.13 (0.04-0.27)	0.019
Dark Green Vegetables	0.13 (0-0.53)	0.4 (0.22-0.67)	0.002
Orange Colored Vegetables	0.07 (0-0.22)	0.15 (0.07-0.27)	<0.001
Other Vegetables	0.4 (0.16-1)	0.42 (0.25-0.98)	0.838
Total Fruit	1.03 (0.39-2.07)	1 (0.53-1.81)	0.721
Total Vegetables	1.23 (0.4-2.25)	1.33 (0.89-1.98)	0.458
Total Fruits and Vegetables	2.52 (1.03-4.9)	2.13 (1.6-3.8)	0.946
Vegetables <2.5 per day	78%	80%	0.717
Fruit <2 per day	69%	77%	0.348

Table 3.2. Daily Frequency of Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

Mdn=Median; IQR=Interquartile range



Table 3.3. Physical Activity

Variable	Rural	Urban	p-value
	Appalachian	Fayette Co.	
	Mdn (IQR)	Mdn (IQR)	
	n = 60	n = 57	
# Days VPA Past Week	0.5 (0-3)	3 (0.5-4)	0.003
Time VPA One Day (min)	15 (0-105)	60 (15-120)	0.070
VPA Week Total (min)	26 (0-300)	180 (22.5-352.2)	0.026
# Days MPA Past Week	2 (0-4)	2 (1-3.25)	0.572
Time MPA One Day (min)	60 (0-120)	30 (15-60)	0.191
MPA Week Total (min)	178.2 (0-360)	90 (25-195)	0.233
Days Walking	3 (2-7)	6 (5-7)	<0.001
Time Walking One Day (min)	60 (10.5-113.9)	45 (30-89.1)	0.659
Weekly Walking (min)	157.5 (30-659.6)	245 (150-567.4)	0.036
Time Sitting Week Day (min)	428.7 (300-480)	360 (255-480)	0.216

Mdn=Median; IQR=Interquartile range; VPA=Vigorous physical activity; MPA=Moderate physical activity



Variable	Rural Appalachian	Urban Fayette Co.	p-value
	n = 60	n = 57	
Weight (lbs)	180.82 ± 65.25	151.91 ± 28.37	0.002
Body Mass Index	29.01 . 0.51	24.02 + 2.29	-0.001
(kg/m²)	20.91 ± 9.51	24.03 ± 3.20	<0.001
Underweight	5%	0%	
Normal Weight	42%	72%	
Overweight	20%	21%	-0.001
Class I Obese	7%	7%	<0.001
Class II Obese	8%	0%	
Class III Obese	18%	0%	
Waist Circumference	90.14 ± 20.58	78.42 ± 9.26	<0.001
(cm)			
High WC	33%	3%	<0.001
Low WC	67%	97%	
NHLBI Disease Risk			
Increased	18%	21%	
High	3%	4%	
Very High	13%	4%	0.002
Extremely High	18%	0%	
Sagittal Abdominal	24.08 ± 6.84	19.89 ± 2.97	<0.001
Diameter (cm)			

Table 3.4. Indices of Obesity

WC=Waist circumference; NHLBI=National Heart Lung and Blood Institute



CHAPTER FOUR:

A Comparison of General versus Abdominal Obesity in Predicting Blood Pressure among College Students

1. Introduction

Hypertension is a major public health concern impacting approximately 78 million adults in the United States¹ and is a significant risk factor for cardiovascular diseases (CVD) including heart disease,^{2,3} stroke,³ and heart failure.⁴ Among those diagnosed with hypertension but no other CVD, nearly 30% are unaware of having the condition.¹

Although the prevalence of hypertension increases with age,¹ it is also common among young adults. Data from 1999-2008 National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys (NHANES) indicate that 14% of those aged 12-19 years have prehypertension or hypertension.⁵ Other data suggest nearly 7% of young adults aged 18-39 years are diagnosed with hypertension.¹ However, the prevalence of hypertension may be higher due to underdiagnosis among younger adults. In the primary care setting, as many as 44% of those aged 18-25 years who meet hypertension criteria are not being timely diagnosed.⁶ Because hypertension in young adulthood is independently associated with CVD and allcause mortality later in adulthood,⁷ it is important to determine factors associated with blood pressure among high-risk young adults, such as those attending college, so that appropriate interventions can be developed to reduce hypertension risk.



College students engage in multiple unhealthy behaviors associated with elevated blood pressure. In general, college students have diets low in fruits and vegetables^{8,9} and many are physically inactive.⁸⁻¹⁰ Weight gain is also common among college students,^{11,12} with body fat increasing from their freshman to junior year.¹³ A significant number of college students are overweight or obese¹⁰ and have high levels of abdominal obesity.^{14,15}

In addition to engaging in unhealthy behaviors associated with hypertension, college students also suffer from high levels of psychological distress,^{9,16} which is associated with weight gain.¹² Depressive symptoms and anxiety are also independently associated with hypertension among adults.^{17,18}

Numerous studies have provided evidence that overweight and obesity are risk factors for hypertension in adults,¹⁹⁻²³ adolescents,^{5,24-26} and children.^{24,27,28} Data from the Framingham Heart Study suggest that a 5% weight gain increases the odds of developing hypertension by 20-30%.²⁹ Other data indicate that each one-unit increase in body mass index (BMI), a general measure of obesity, independently increases the risk for incident hypertension by 8%.³⁰

The location of body fat may be an important consideration in the risk of hypertension associated with weight gain. Greater abdominal obesity is associated with pre-hypertension and hypertension in youth,^{31,32} and even a moderate elevation in abdominal obesity is associated with hypertension in adults.³³ Waist circumference (WC) and sagittal abdominal diameter (SAD) are two simple anthropometric measures of abdominal obesity³⁴ that may be better



predictors of risk than BMI. There is some evidence that SAD may be a better predictor of hypertension risk than WC^{35,36} because it minimizes inclusion of subcutaneous fat in assessing abdominal obesity. However, additional studies are needed to determine whether SAD is a better predictor of hypertension risk in young adults.³⁷

Therefore, the purpose of this study was to compare measures of general and abdominal obesity in independently predicting blood pressure in a sample of college students in Kentucky controlling for non-modifiable and modifiable hypertension risk factors.

2. Methods

2.1. Design, Setting, and Sample

A cross-sectional design was used to compare measures of general and abdominal obesity in predicting blood pressure in a convenience sample of 116 college students in Kentucky. Students were recruited from a community college and four-year university in urban, central Kentucky and a community college in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky. Students were eligible if they were 18-25 years of age and enrolled in college. Students with a cardiovascular-related diagnosis including hypertension, hyperlipidemia, and diabetes were excluded because they may have been engaged in healthier lifestyle behaviors for disease management. Pregnant students were excluded because pregnancy impacts measures of abdominal obesity and blood pressure.



2.2. Predictors

2.2.1. Body Mass Index

Participants were defined as underweight, normal weight, overweight, or obese class I-III according to standard BMI cut-points (<18.5, 18.5-24.9, 25-29.9, 30-34.9, 35-39.9, and \geq 40kg/m², respectively).³⁸ Body weight was measured using a portable, mechanical digital scale to the nearest 0.1lb, and height was measured using a portable stadiometer to the nearest 0.1cm with participants wearing no shoes and light clothing.

2.2.2. Waist Circumference

Waist circumference was measured according to procedures outlined in the National Institutes of Health, National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute's *Clinical Guidelines on the Identification, Evaluation, and Treatment of Overweight and Obesity in Adults.*³⁹ An anthropometric tape measure was placed in a horizontal plane around the abdomen starting at the upper lateral border of the right iliac crest at the mid axillary line. The tape was snug but did not compress the skin. Measurements were taken at the end of normal expiration and to the nearest 0.1cm. Abdominal obesity was defined as having a WC measurement greater than 102cm for men and greater than 88cm for women.³⁸

2.2.3. Sagittal Abdominal Diameter

Sagittal abdominal diameter was obtained using Holtain-Kahn abdominal calipers while the participant was standing with arms folded across the chest. The non-moveable arm of the caliper was placed at the small of the back and the moveable arm moved to the umbilicus. The measurement was taken to the



nearest 0.1cm at the end of normal expiration. Sagittal abdominal diameter allows for assessment of visceral abdominal tissue because subcutaneous fat typically located along the flanks is not measured.⁴⁰ Measuring SAD with participants standing has been shown to be as valid as taking it supine.³⁴

2.3. Covariates

Physical inactivity,⁴¹ fruit and vegetable consumption,⁴² smoking,⁴³ depressive symptoms,⁴⁴ anxiety,⁴⁵ and parental history of hypertension⁴⁶ were included as covariates because of their association with elevated blood pressure.

2.3.1. Physical Inactivity

Physical inactivity was measured by the International Physical Activity Questionnaire short form (IPAQ-SF). This questionnaire was designed for adults between the ages of 15-69⁴⁷ and contains seven questions regarding the frequency and time spent in vigorous intensity activity, moderate intensity activity, walking, and sitting. For this study, physical inactivity was defined as the number of self-reported minutes participants sat on a typical weekday.

2.3.2. Fruit and Vegetable Consumption

Fruit and vegetable intake was measured using questions on a behavioral questionnaire from the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System (BRFSS)⁴⁸ regarding the consumption of 100% pure fruit juices, fruit, cooked or canned beans, dark green vegetables, orange-colored vegetables, and other vegetables. The BRFSS questions regarding fruit and vegetable correlate moderately with food-frequency questionnaires and 24-hour recalls.⁴⁹ Participants were given the option to list the frequency of consuming each item on either a daily, weekly, or



monthly basis during the past 30 days. Fruits and vegetables consumed daily were multiplied by 30 and those consumed weekly by 4 to calculate a monthly total. Daily total fruit and vegetable intake was calculated by summing the monthly consumption of each item and dividing the total by 30 days.

2.3.3. Smoking

Smoking was measured by self-report of smoking status. Smoking status was dichotomized to never/former smoker and current/recent smoker. Participants who had not smoked in over a year were deemed former smokers, and those who smoked within the past year were recent smokers.

2.3.4. Depressive Symptoms

Depressive symptoms were measured using the nine item Patient Health Questionnaire (PHQ-9) that assessed the frequency of depressive symptoms over the past two weeks ranging from 0 (not at all) to 3 (nearly every day).⁵⁰ Scores on the PHQ-9 range from 0-27. A score of 5-9 represents minimal symptoms; 10-14 mild; 15-19 moderately severe; and \geq 20 severe. Internal consistency reliability has been shown to be high, with Cronbach's alpha ranging from 0.79-0.89 among individuals in primary care.^{50,51} In this study, Cronbach's alpha was 0.69.

2.3.5. Anxiety

Anxiety was measured using the 6-item subscale of the Brief Symptom Inventory (BSI). Each item on the BSI is rated on a 5-point scale of distress ranging from 0 (not at all) to 4 (extremely). Item scores were summed and the mean was calculated with higher scores indicating a higher degree of anxiety.



The BSI anxiety subscale has been shown to have a high internal consistency reliability with a Cronbach's alpha of 0.81 in a sample of outpatient adults.⁵² In this study, the Cronbach's alpha was 0.719.

2.3.6. Parental History of Hypertension

Parental history of hypertension was assessed using a family history of heart disease and diabetes specific questionnaire. Participants were asked to indicate whether their biological mother or father had been diagnosed with hypertension. For this analysis, three categories of parental history of hypertension were created. A positive family history of hypertension was defined as either a maternal or paternal history of hypertension. A negative parental history of hypertension was defined as neither parent having hypertension. Parental history of hypertension among the eight participants who were adopted or unaware of their family history was defined as unknown.

2.4. Blood Pressure

Blood pressure was measured in the participant's right arm (supported at the heart level) in a quiet setting after the participant had been seated quietly for at least five minutes in a chair and with feet on the floor.⁵³ The ausculatory method of blood pressure measurement was used with an aneroid sphygmomanometer placed over the brachial artery.⁵⁴ Three blood pressure measurements were obtained, each after one minute of the previous reading. The average of the three readings was used for data analysis. Blood pressures consistent with hypertension were defined as systolic blood pressure (SBP) \geq 140mmHg or a diastolic blood pressure (DBP) \geq 90 mmHg.⁵⁵



2.5. Other Variables of Interest

A standard self-administered sociodemographic questionnaire was used to gather data on age, sex, race/ethnicity, and current household income.

2.6. Procedure

Institutional Review Board approval was obtained at all study sites. Students were recruited using recruitment tables on college campuses, flyers placed at high-traffic locations, and through email invitation. The Center for Clinical and Translational Science at the primary study site also provided recruitment assistance through a research opportunities database.

Students interested in the study contacted the PI for additional information and to determine eligibility criteria. Those who were interested and eligible met the PI at a mutually agreed upon location to provide written informed consent following an overview of the study's purpose and procedures. After providing written informed consent, students completed self-administered questionnaires and then underwent a brief health examination to obtain measures of obesity and blood pressure.

2.7. Data Analysis

Data from 116 participants were used for this analysis. Because 19 participants provided unusable information on the IPAQ-SF questionnaire (i.e., checking "Not Sure/Don't Know" for time spent sitting), those data were means adjusted according to the geographic location where participants were recruited. Four participants had a missing value on the PHQ-9; total scores for these participants were computed from the remaining completed responses. Means



adjusted fruit and vegetable intake was computed for three participants who provided incomplete data.

Variables were summarized using means with standard deviations or percentages as appropriate. Three separate hierarchal multivariable linear regressions were run for BMI, WC, and SAD as predictors of SBP and DBP due to strong intercorrelations (Pearson's r \geq 0.94 among all indices of obesity). In the first step, sex, physical inactivity, fruit and vegetable intake, smoking status, depressive symptoms, anxiety, and parental history of hypertension were entered as covariates. In the second step, BMI was entered as the measure of obesity in the first model, WC was entered in the second model, and SAD was entered in the third model. Given evidence suggesting abdominal obesity predicts hypertension independent of BMI,⁵⁶ four additional hierarchal multivariable linear regressions were conducted including covariates in the first step, BMI in the second step, and each measure of abdominal obesity in separate models in the third step. An alpha level of 0.05 was used to determine statistical significance. Variance inflation factors were examined to determine the presence of multicollinearity. Residual histograms and normal P-P plots were examined to determine normality of residuals. A plot of standardized residuals and predicted values was examined to determine homoscedascity. Multicollinearity was absent in the first six models in which BMI, WC, and SAD were analyzed separately. In the four models that included measures of general and abdominal obesity together, multicollinearity was present with variance inflation factors greater than 10 for BMI, WC, and SAD. Heteroscedasticity was absent in all models, and



residuals were normally distributed. All statistical analyses were performed using SPSS version 22.

3. Results

3.1. Sample Characteristics

Table 4.1 is the sample characteristics. The average age of the sample was approximately 20 years, 85% were white, and a slight majority was female. More than half the sample lived with family members and approximately one fifth lived with friends. Nearly 60% reported a current household income less than \$30,000, and approximately one-fourth reported an income greater than \$60,000. On average, the sample consumed fruits and vegetables three times per day. Approximately 7 hours was spent being sedentary on a typical weekday. Roughly a fourth of the sample currently or recently smoked. On average, the sample was overweight with more than a third overweight or obese. Nineteen percent of the sample had elevated WC. Although the average blood pressure was normotensive, 14% had hypertension based upon measures taken at a single sitting.

3.2. Predictors of Systolic Blood Pressure

The regression models are summarized in Table 4.2. Being female was predictive of lower SBP in all models, and covariates explained approximately 16% of the variance in SBP. In Model 1, BMI was a significant predictor explaining roughly 22% additional variance in SBP. In Model 2 WC explained an additional 27% of the variance in SBP, while in Model 3 SAD explained an additional 22% of the variance.


3.3. Predictors of Diastolic Blood Pressure

Being female was predictive of lower DBP in Model 1 containing BMI (Table 4.3), and covariates explained nearly 14% of the variance in DBP. Higher anxiety was predictive of lower DBP in all models. In Model 1, BMI was a significant predictor explaining roughly 27% additional variance in DBP. In Models 2 and 3, WC explained an additional 29% of the variance in DBP and SAD explained an additional 28% of the variance.

3.4. Independent Effects of General and Abdominal Obesity on Blood Pressure

Waist circumference, but not SAD, was an independent predictor of SBP and DBP controlling for BMI (Table 4.4). Body mass index did not predict blood pressure independent of WC and SAD.

4. Discussion

Findings from this study suggest that WC as a measure of abdominal obesity is a marginally better predictor of SBP in college students than BMI as a general measure of obesity and SAD as a measure of abdominal obesity. All three measures were comparable predictors of DBP. Findings also suggest that WC predicts blood pressure independently of BMI.

Although there has been interest in determining which simple measure of body fat, BMI or WC, is the best predictor of blood pressure among children and adolescents, few researchers have evaluated these measures in college students. Our findings are in agreement with previous research indicating that



both BMI and WC are positively associated with hypertension among adolescents.^{57,58} However, we found that WC explained approximately 5% more variance in SBP than BMI and thus may be better in identifying risk for hypertension in college students. The usefulness of WC to identify risk for hypertension in this population is supported by Dalleck and Kjelland⁵⁹ who found that WC, but not BMI, was an independent predictor of SBP controlling for physical activity in college students. The lack of an association between BMI and SBP in their study may be due to their sample being normal weight and having less variability in blood pressure compared to our study. Collectively, these findings suggest that WC may be more clinically useful than BMI in identifying college students at risk for hypertension.

In a combined model, WC predicted SBP and DBP independent of BMI. However, BMI did not predict blood pressure independent of WC. This finding differs from others who found associations between BMI and systolic and diastolic blood pressure in children and adolescents independent of WC.^{58,60} Among adults, however, evidence suggests that WC is associated with blood pressure and hypertension independent of BMI.^{61,62} Differences in findings across populations may be due to age-related changes in body composition impacting the ability of WC to predict blood pressure independent of BMI.

Clinical obesity guidelines recommend using both WC and BMI measures to stratify risk for CVD, including hypertension.³⁹ Among people who are normal weight, overweight, and obese, those having a high WC are at greater risk for hypertension compared to those with a low WC.⁶¹ Zhang and colleagues have



demonstrated that grouping children and adolescents according to combinations of WC and BMI increases the ability to identify risk for hypertension compared to using BMI alone.^{63,64} Although this approach is supported in clinical guidelines, it is of limited utility in predicting risk with increasing degrees of obesity.³⁸ Grouping participants according to WC and BMI categories was not feasible in our study due to only one participant being normal weight or overweight and having a high WC. Additionally, Janssen and colleagues found that BMI did not increase the ability to predict health risk independent of WC when both were analyzed continuously and concluded that health risks for a given WC are similar regardless of BMI.⁶⁵ Future research is needed to determine how creating risk categories by combining WC and BMI performs in predicting blood pressure among high-risk young adults such as college students.

Evidence suggests that visceral abdominal fat, rather than subcutaneous abdominal fat, is the component of abdominal obesity associated with hypertension.⁶⁶ When taken in the supine position, SAD may be a better measure of visceral abdominal fat than WC because subcutaneous fat drifts to the sides and is not measured.³⁵ However, Clasey and colleagues demonstrated that measuring SAD in the standing position is more strongly associated with visceral abdominal fat than the supine position.³⁴ Our findings, however, suggest that WC was a stronger independent predictor of SBP than SAD in college students. Previous research has provided mixed results regarding associations among WC, SAD, and blood pressure with some evidence suggesting that SAD is slightly more correlated with blood pressure than WC in adults.^{35,37} Other



evidence, however, suggests that WC is more highly correlated with blood pressure compared to SAD.⁶² In our study, WC may have been a better predictor of SBP than SAD due to gender differences in the correlation between anthropometric and CT measures of visceral abdominal fat. Evidence suggests that SAD is more strongly correlated with visceral abdominal fat than WC in women but not men.³⁴ Furthermore, because blood pressure is generally higher among younger men than women,^{46,67} our finding that WC was a better predictor of SBP than SAD may be due to gender differences in measuring visceral abdominal obesity using simple anthropometric techniques and blood pressure. Given these findings, the more familiar WC may remain a more clinically appropriate measure of abdominal obesity for evaluating younger adults at risk for elevated blood pressure. However, additional research regarding the use of SAD in assessing cardiovascular risk in younger populations is needed.³⁷

4.1. Limitations

Several limitations to this study should be noted. First, this was a crosssectional study limiting our ability to draw temporal or causal inferences regarding the relationship between measures of obesity and blood pressure. Second, our findings are not generalizable to minority populations due to 85% of our sample being White. Future research should include diverse populations to further understand the relationship between body fat distribution and blood pressure among emerging adults in college. Third, the small sample size may have limited our ability to detect independent associations between obesity



measures and blood pressure in models where BMI and measures of abdominal obesity were analyzed together.

5. Conclusions

Waist circumference was a marginally better predictor of SBP in college students compared to SAD and BMI. Waist circumference was also a predictor of blood pressure independent of BMI. These findings suggest that the easily obtainable WC, as a simple anthropometric measure of abdominal obesity, could be used in evaluating hypertension risk among college students.

Copyright © Demetrius A. Abshire 2014



Variable	Mean (± SD) or Percent*
Age	20.3 ± 1.8
Sex (Female)	56%
Race	
Caucasian/White	85%
African American/Black	10%
Current Household Income†	
<\$30,000	56%
\$30,000-\$60,000	20%
>\$60,000	24%
Living Arrangements	
With Family	58%
With Spouse	10%
With Friends	18%
College Dormitory	7%
Daily Fruit and Vegetable Intake	3 ± 2.1
Sedentary Activity (min)	419.9 ± 221.1
BSI-Anxiety	2.9 ± 3.9
PHQ-9	5.3 ± 4.4
Parental History of HTN	
Yes	60%
No	33%
Unknown	7%
Smoking	
Never/Former	72%
Recent/Current	28%





26.5 ± 7.6
3%
57%
21%
6%
4%
10%
84.3 ± 17.1
19%
22 ± 5.7
117.8 ± 14.9
76.5 ± 10.6
14%
9%
10%

BSI=Brief Symptom Inventory; PHQ=Patient Health Questionnaire;

HTN=Hypertension; BMI=Body Mass Index; WC=Waist Circumference;

SAD=Sagittal Abdominal Diameter

*Percentages may not add to 100% due to rounding

† n = 114



Variable	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
	β	β	β
Step 1			
Sex	-0.298*	-0.194**	-0.228*
Parental History of HTN	0.057	0.067	0.062
Smoking	-0.069	-0.081	-0.066
Daily FV Intake	0.032	0.038	0.044
Sedentary Activity (min)	-0.101	-0.124	-0.122
Depressive Symptoms	0.036	0.017	0.017
Anxiety	-0.102	-0.103	-0.102
Step 1 Adjusted R ²	0.156	0.156	0.156
Step 2			
BMI	0.496*		
WC		0.570*	
SAD			0.520*
Step 2 Adjusted R ²	0.379	0.424	0.378
ΔR^2	0.223	0.268	0.222

Table 4.2. Predictors of Systolic Blood Pressure (n=116)

HTN=Hypertension; BMI=Body Mass Index; WC=Waist Circumference; SAD=Sagittal Abdominal Diameter Standardized beta coefficients shown for Step 2 *p<0.01; **p<0.05



Variable	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3
	β	β	β
Step 1			
Sex	-0.214*	-0.111	-0.132
Parental History of HTN	0.093	0.105	0.099
Smoking	-0.085	-0.099	-0.079
Daily FV Intake	0.037	0.045	0.050
Sedentary Activity (min)	-0.053	-0.076	-0.077
Depressive Symptoms	0.051	0.040	0.024
Anxiety	-0.192**	-0.198**	-0.189**
Step 1 Adjusted R ²	0.137	0.137	0.137
Step 2			
BMI	0.542*		
WC		0.594*	
SAD			0.586*
Step 2 Adjusted R ²	0.405	0.428	0.421
ΔR^2	0.268	0.291	0.284

Table 4.3. Predictors of Diastolic Blood Pressure (n=116)

HTN=Hypertension; FV=Fruits and Vegetables; BMI=Body Mass Index; WC=Waist Circumference; SAD=Sagittal Abdominal Diameter Standardized beta coefficients shown for Step 2 *p<0.01; **p<0.05



Variable	SBP	SBP	DBP	DBP
	Model 1	Model 2	Model 3	Model 4
	ß	β	ß	β
Step 1				
Sex	-0.162	-0.261*	-0.119	-0.149
Parental History of HTN	0.072	0.059	0.104	0.097
Smoking	-0.088	-0.066	-0.097	-0.079
Daily FV Intake	0.042	0.037	0.044	0.046
Sedentary Activity (min)	-0.132	-0.112	-0.074	-0.071
Depressive Symptoms	0.020	0.022	0.040	0.026
Anxiety	-0.108	-0.100	-0.196**	-0.188**
Step 1 Adjusted R ²	0.156	0.156	0.137	0.137
Step 2				
BMI	-0.207	0.265	0.052	0.136
Step 2 Adjusted R ²	0.379	0.379	0.405	0.405
Step 2 ΔR^2	0.223	0.223	0.268	0.268
Step 3				
WC	0.777*		0.542**	
SAD		0.256		0.450
Step 3 Adjusted R ²	0.422	0.379	0.423	0.417
Step 3 ∆R ²	0.043	0	0.018	0.012

Table 4.4. Predictive Ability of Abdominal Obesity Controlling for Body Mass Index (n=116)

HTN=Hypertension; FV=Fruits and Vegetables; BMI=Body Mass Index; WC=Waist Circumference; SAD=Sagittal Abdominal Diameter; SBP=Systolic Blood Pressure; DBP=Diastolic Blood Pressure Standardized beta coefficients shown for Step 3 *p<0.01; **p<0.05



CHAPTER FIVE:

Discussion and Conclusions

1. Background and Purpose

The purpose of this dissertation was to examine CVD risk factors in emerging adults in college. This population is gaining independence and establishing CVD risk behaviors that may extend into adulthood. Three databased manuscripts focused on CVD risk factors in this population were developed: 1) a qualitative descriptive study to examine perceptions related to CVD risk in college males, 2) a comparison of CVD risk behaviors and obesity between emerging adults in college living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky and urban non-Appalachian Kentucky, and 3) a comparison of general and abdominal obesity in predicting blood pressure in college students.

Cardiovascular disease risk factors in young adulthood are associated with both short and long-term CVD outcomes. Although the 10-year risk for coronary heart disease is less than 10% for nearly all those aged 20-29 years,¹ subclinical atherosclerosis is greater among those with high compared to low lifetime risk for CVD.² Evidence suggests CVD risk behaviors and risk factors present in adolescence and young adulthood often persist with age,³⁻⁵ therefore increasing CVD risk. Given this evidence, it's crucial to study populations at high risk for developing CVD risk behaviors such as college students and residents of rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky.

The purpose of this chapter is to synthesize findings from the dissertation and discuss how it advances the state of the science on CVD risk in college



students and those living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky.

Recommendations for future research and implications for clinical care are also discussed.

2. Summary of Findings

Chapter Two was a qualitative descriptive study examining perceptions related to CVD risk in a sample of 10 college males. Students discussed many environmental barriers to engaging in CVD health-promoting behaviors and emphasized the importance of a healthy diet and physical activity in preventing CVD. Students also emphasized that the absence of an immediate health threat was a barrier to engaging in healthy lifestyle behaviors, and healthcare professionals could promote behavior change by focusing on immediate health consequences of behaviors.

Chapter Three was a cross-sectional study comparing CVD risk behaviors and obesity between 61 college students living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky and 57 living in urban, non-Appalachian Kentucky. Findings demonstrated that more students from rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky smoked, had greater general and abdominal obesity, were less physically active, and consumed orange and green colored vegetables and beans less frequently compared to those from urban, non-Appalachian Kentucky. These findings suggested that students from rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky were at higher risk for CVD due to more CVD risk behaviors and greater obesity.

Chapter Four was a comparison of general vs. abdominal obesity in predicting blood pressure in a sample of 116 college students. Although all



measures of general and abdominal obesity predicted blood pressure, waist circumference was the strongest predictor explaining the most variance in systolic blood pressure. Abdominal obesity, measured by waist circumference, also predicted blood pressure independent of general obesity measured by body mass index.

3. Impact of Dissertation on the State of the Science

College students engage in numerous CVD risk behaviors and have other CVD risk factors including hypertension.⁶⁻⁹ The results of this dissertation expand our understanding of CVD risk in college students in the following ways: 1) identified that students perceived the college environment as a barrier to engaging in CVD health-promoting behaviors, 2) identified that the absence of an immediate threat to cardiovascular health was a perceived barrier to engaging in behavior change, 3) demonstrated that many CVD risk behaviors and obesity were more common in students from rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky compared to urban, Fayette County, and 4) demonstrated that waist circumference was the best simple anthropometric measure of obesity in predicting blood pressure in college students.

In Chapter Two, students perceived that the college environment was a barrier to engaging in healthy behaviors associated with reduced CVD risk. Although this finding was consistent with previous qualitative studies exploring factors associated with weight-related behaviors in this population, this was the first study in which this finding emerged in the context of perceptions specific to cardiovascular risk. Students also perceived that changing unhealthy behaviors



would not occur unless there was an immediate threat to their cardiovascular health.

The strong emphasis on the perceived importance of environment on cardiovascular risk discovered in Chapter Two led to the development of the study in Chapter Three to examine whether healthy students living in the low socioeconomic, resource-deprived environment of rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky had more CVD risk behaviors and obesity compared to students living in more resource-rich urban Fayette County, Kentucky. Because college students ignore long-term consequences of their behavior and many risk factors extend into adulthood,^{3,4} regional differences in CVD risk factors in this population may partially explain the high burden of CVD in rural Appalachian Kentucky. Previous research on the cardiovascular health of people from rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky has predominantly included middle and older aged adults or children. This was the first study to compare CVD risk behaviors and obesity among emerging adults in college living in rural Appalachian vs. urban non-Appalachian regions. Findings from this study suggest that many CVD risk behaviors and obesity were greater in college students living in rural Appalachian counties in Kentucky, thus being at higher risk for future CVD than those living in urban Fayette County.

There is growing recognition of abdominal obesity as a CVD risk factor. Although WC has been widely used in research on CVD risk, few studies have used this measure in college students. Sagittal abdominal diameter, another measure of abdominal obesity, has never been used in college students. Chapter



Three of this dissertation therefore advances our understanding of the prevalence and magnitude of abdominal obesity among emerging adults in college by using these two measures of abdominal obesity. Further, although researchers have previously used WC as a measure of abdominal obesity to determine the prevalence of metabolic syndrome among college students, Chapter Four demonstrates the importance of using WC to assess CVD risk due to it being the best simple measure of obesity predicting systolic blood pressure in this population.

4. Recommendations for Clinical Practice and Research

Findings from Chapter Two suggest that healthcare professionals can play a significant role in promoting cardiovascular health behaviors among emerging adults in college by emphasizing immediate consequences of unhealthy behaviors. Data suggest that healthcare providers and health educators are the most trustworthy sources of health-related information for college students.¹⁰ Many students are also interested in receiving information about physical activity and nutrition.¹¹ These findings suggest that, despite high rates of physical inactivity and unhealthy diets, many college students are interested in improving these behaviors, which would reduce CVD risk. Clinicians and health researchers are therefore in a unique position to promote healthy behaviors in this population by focusing on the short-term effects of behaviors on CVD risk.

Emerging adults from rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky had significantly greater general and abdominal obesity and more were obese compared to those from urban Fayette County. These results can be used to



emphasize the importance of healthcare providers addressing obesity in rural Appalachia, which is often neglected. Holt and colleagues reported that approximately 70% of physicians discussed diet and physical activity with parents of overweight or obese children, but only 19% indicated they provided resources to promote change.¹² More than 90% of physicians also reported not routinely assessing children's BMI and WC.

In addition to behavioral interventions, changes in the college environment are needed to overcome barriers associated with weight-gain behaviors. Data from numerous studies suggest students perceive that colleges promote unhealthy dietary behaviors due to a greater availability of unhealthy compared to healthy foods.¹³⁻¹⁵ It is critical that college administrators take appropriate action to improve the college environment as part of obesity prevention efforts.

Findings from Chapter Three indicate that the majority of emerging adults in college did not meet recommendations for fruit and vegetable intake and many are physically inactive. Although fruit and vegetable consumption and physical activity are associated with favorable changes in BMI and adiposity among health professions graduate students,¹⁶ facilitating behavior change in college students remains challenging. Future research should build upon existing studies that have attempted to promote behavior change in this population. Several interventions to promote behavior change in college students have been developed and described in the literature. One strategy to promote obesity prevention behaviors is for colleges to offer formal coursework that incorporates desired behavioral changes such as the TIGER study where sedentary students



enrolled in an exercise program that included educational content.¹⁷ However, the adherence rate was 20% for the 30-week study period. Greene and colleagues demonstrated 84% adherence of students in a treatment group completing an online 10-week dietary and physical activity curriculum. Although this curriculum was effective in increasing fruit and vegetable intake and total activity among a large sample of college students at eight institutions, BMI also increased.¹⁸ Future research is needed to determine the most effective interventions to promote behavior change in this population to reduce CVD risk.

The high rates of smoking among emerging adults in college from rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky indicate the need for effective, evidence-based smoking cessation interventions to reduce their risk for CVD. Phone-based interventions may be one strategy to promote smoking cessation in this limitedresource area. Whittaker and colleagues pooled results from five studies using phone-based interventions to promote smoking cessation and found this method was effective in achieving long-term smoking abstinence.¹⁹ Changes in the college environment are also needed to successfully achieve smoking cessation. College students participating in focus groups emphasized that social and environmental factors are influential in quitting.²⁰ Therefore, it's critical that colleges promote an environment where smoking cessation can be successful. Future research should consider social and environmental factors when designing and testing smoking cessation interventions.

Emerging adults in college living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky engaged in more unhealthy behaviors and more were obese than those in urban



Fayette County. Although the built environment of rural Appalachian Kentucky has been well characterized and residents describe barriers to healthy eating and engaging in physical activity,²¹⁻²³ future research is needed to better understand how the environment impacts obesity-related behaviors in emerging adults in college.²⁴ Quantitative data using Geographic Information Systems (GIS) mapping suggest that greater access to fast food restaurants was associated with greater fast food consumption among younger adults with lower incomes; however, grocery store access was unrelated fruit and vegetable intake in this population.²⁵ Additional studies using GIS mapping could provide additional insight on how the built environment influences CVD risk behaviors among emerging adults in college, particularly those in high-risk environments such as those living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky. A better understanding of how the built environment impacts health behaviors in this population may lead to developmentally appropriate interventions to reduce CVD risk.

5. Limitations

Although this dissertation has filled several important gaps regarding the understanding of CVD risk among emerging adults in college, several limitations should be noted. In Chapter Two, perceptions related to cardiovascular risk were explored in Caucasian emerging adult males in college. Including a larger, more diverse sample could have revealed additional perceptions regarding cardiovascular risk that are unique to certain racial and ethnic minorities. Similarly, the findings from Chapters Three and Four cannot be generalized due to the samples being predominantly Caucasian. In Chapter Three, behaviors of



smoking, physical activity, fruit and vegetable intake, and fast-food consumption were measured using self-report. The validity of the findings reported in this study could have been improved through the use of objective measures of these behaviors. Finally, self-selection bias could have impacted the findings reported in each chapter due to healthier students or those interested in health being more likely to participate in these studies.

6. Summary

This dissertation has demonstrated that emerging adulthood is an important time to examine cardiovascular health because risk factors present during this period often persist further into adulthood. Emerging adults in college are particularly at high risk for developing unhealthy behaviors due to numerous perceived barriers to engaging in health lifestyle behaviors during this period. The studies in this dissertation have demonstrated that emerging adults in college have numerous CVD risk factors, particularly those living in rural, Eastern Appalachian Kentucky. Findings also suggest that abdominal obesity is prevalent among college students and is predictive of blood pressure. Future research to reduce CVD risk through behavior change is needed in this population.

Copyright © Demetrius A. Abshire 2014



References

1. Chapter One

- 1. Mathers CD, Loncar D. Projections of global mortality and burden of disease from 2002 to 2030. *PLoS Med.* Nov 2006;3(11):e442.
- 2. Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2014 update: a report from the american heart association. *Circulation.* Jan 21 2014;129(3):e28-e292.
- 3. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, National Center for Health Statistics. Underlying Cause of Death 1999-2011 on CDC WONDER Online Database, released 2014. Data are from the Multiple Cause of Death Files, 1999-2011, as compiled from data provided by the 57 vital statistics jurisdictions through the Vital Statistics Cooperative Program. 2014; http://wonder.cdc.gov/ucd-icd10.html. Accessed July 29, 2014.
- 4. Roger VL, Go AS, Lloyd-Jones DM, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2011 update: a report from the American Heart Association. *Circulation.* Feb 1 2011;123(4):e18-e209.
- 5. Lloyd-Jones DM, Hong Y, Labarthe D, et al. Defining and setting national goals for cardiovascular health promotion and disease reduction: the American Heart Association's strategic Impact Goal through 2020 and beyond. *Circulation.* Feb 2 2010;121(4):586-613.
- 6. Lloyd-Jones DM, Leip EP, Larson MG, et al. Prediction of lifetime risk for cardiovascular disease by risk factor burden at 50 years of age. *Circulation.* Feb 14 2006;113(6):791-798.
- 7. Stamler J, Stamler R, Neaton JD, et al. Low risk-factor profile and longterm cardiovascular and noncardiovascular mortality and life expectancy: findings for 5 large cohorts of young adult and middle-aged men and women. *JAMA*. Dec 1 1999;282(21):2012-2018.
- 8. Daviglus ML, Stamler J, Pirzada A, et al. Favorable cardiovascular risk profile in young women and long-term risk of cardiovascular and all-cause mortality. *JAMA*. Oct 6 2004;292(13):1588-1592.
- 9. Arnett JJ. Emerging adulthood. A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *Am Psychol.* May 2000;55(5):469-480.
- 10. Nelson MC, Story M, Larson NI, Neumark-Sztainer D, Lytle LA. Emerging adulthood and college-aged youth: an overlooked age for weight-related behavior change. *Obesity*. Oct 2008;16(10):2205-2211.
- 11. Snyder TD, Dillow SA. *Digest of Education Statistics 2012 (NCES 2014-015).* Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics, Institute of Education Sciences, U.S. Department of Education,;2013.
- 12. Morse KL, Driskell JA. Observed sex differences in fast-food consumption and nutrition self-assessments and beliefs of college students. *Nutr Res.* Mar 2009;29(3):173-179.
- 13. American College Health Association. The American College Health Association National College Health Assessment (ACHA-NCHA) spring



2008 reference group data report (abridged). *J Am Coll Health.* 2009;57(5):477-488.

- 14. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Strube MJ, Highstein GR, Deusinger RH. Weight changes, exercise, and dietary patterns during freshman and sophomore years of college. *J Am Coll Health.* May-Jun 2005;53(6):245-251.
- 15. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Strube MJ, Highstein GR, Deusinger RH. Changes in weight and health behaviors from freshman through senior year of college. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* Jan-Feb 2008;40(1):39-42.
- 16. Dinger MK. Physical Activity and Dietary Intake Among College Students. *Am J Health Stud.* 1999;15(3):139-148.
- 17. Driskell JA, Meckna BR, Scales NE. Differences exist in the eating habits of university men and women at fast-food restaurants. *Nutr Res.* 2006;26(10):524-530.
- 18. Melvin CL, Corbie-Smith G, Kumanyika SK, et al. Developing a research agenda for cardiovascular disease prevention in high-risk rural communities. *Am J Public Health.* Jun 2013;103(6):1011-1021.
- 19. Krieger N, Rehkopf DH, Chen JT, Waterman PD, Marcelli E, Kennedy M. The fall and rise of US inequities in premature mortality: 1960-2002. *PLoS Med.* Feb 2008;5(2):e46.
- 20. Singh GK, Siahpush M. Widening socioeconomic inequalities in US life expectancy, 1980-2000. *Int J Epidemiol.* Aug 2006;35(4):969-979.
- 21. Harper S, Lynch J. Trends in socioeconomic inequalities in adult health behaviors among U.S. states, 1990-2004. *Public Health Rep.* Mar-Apr 2007;122(2):177-189.
- 22. Wong MD, Shapiro MF, Boscardin WJ, Ettner SL. Contribution of major diseases to disparities in mortality. *N Engl J Med.* Nov 14 2002;347(20):1585-1592.
- 23. Diez Roux AV, Merkin SS, Arnett D, et al. Neighborhood of residence and incidence of coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 12 2001;345(2):99-106.
- 24. Sundquist K, Winkleby M, Ahlen H, Johansson SE. Neighborhood socioeconomic environment and incidence of coronary heart disease: a follow-up study of 25,319 women and men in Sweden. *Am J Epidemiol.* Apr 1 2004;159(7):655-662.
- 25. Sundquist K, Malmstrom M, Johansson SE. Neighbourhood deprivation and incidence of coronary heart disease: a multilevel study of 2.6 million women and men in Sweden. *J Epidemiol Community Health.* Jan 2004;58(1):71-77.
- 26. Cluskey M, Grobe D. College weight gain and behavior transitions: male and female differences. *J Am Diet Assoc.* Feb 2009;109(2):325-329.
- 27. Wengreen HJ, Moncur C. Change in diet, physical activity, and body weight among young-adults during the transition from high school to college. *Nutr J.* 2009;8:32.



- 28. Burke JD, Reilly RA, Morrell JS, Lofgren IE. The University of New Hampshire's Young Adult Health Risk Screening Initiative. *J Am Diet Assoc.* Oct 2009;109(10):1751-1758.
- 29. Abolfotouh MA, Al-Alwan IA, Al-Rowaily MA. Prevalence of Metabolic Abnormalities and Association with Obesity among Saudi College Students. *Int J Hypertens.* 2012;2012:819726.
- 30. Lima AC, Araujo MF, Freitas RW, Zanetti ML, Almeida PC, Damasceno MM. Risk factors for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in college students: association with sociodemographic variables. *Rev Lat Am Enfermagem.* Jun 2014;22(3):484-490.
- 31. Kroke A, Bergmann M, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Boeing H. Obesity, body fat distribution and body build: their relation to blood pressure and prevalence of hypertension. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* Nov 1998;22(11):1062-1070.
- 32. Patterson RE, Frank LL, Kristal AR, White E. A comprehensive examination of health conditions associated with obesity in older adults. *Am J Prev Med.* Dec 2004;27(5):385-390.
- 33. Levine DA, Calhoun DA, Prineas RJ, Cushman M, Howard VJ, Howard G. Moderate waist circumference and hypertension prevalence: the REGARDS Study. *Am J Hypertens.* Apr 2011;24(4):482-488.
- 34. Appalachian Regional Commission. The Appalachian Region. n.d.; http://www.arc.gov/appalachian_region/TheAppalachianRegion.asp.
- 35. United States Department of Agriculture, Economic Research Service. Rural Classifications. 2013; http://www.ers.usda.gov/topics/rural-economypopulation/rural-classifications.aspx#.U9vSqc5N2xo. Accessed August 1, 2014.
- Pollard K, Jacobsen LA, Population Reference Bureau. The Appalachian Region: A Data Overview from the 2008-2012 American Community Survey Chartbook. 2014; http://www.arc.gov/assets/research_reports/DataOverviewfrom2008-
- 2012ACS.pdf. Accessed December 9, 2014.
 37. Appalachian Regional Commission. Source and Methodology: Distressed Designation and County Economic Status Classification System, FY 2007 FY 2015, 2014:

http://www.arc.gov/research/SourceandMethodologyCountyEconomicStat usFY2007FY2015.asp. Accessed July 24, 2014.

- 38. Barker L, Crespo R, Gerzoff RB, Denham S, Shrewsberry M, Cornelius-Averhart D. Residence in a distressed county in Appalachia as a risk factor for diabetes, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2006-2007. *Prev Chronic Dis.* Sep 2010;7(5):A104.
- 39. Barker L, Gerzoff R, Crespo R, Shrewsberry M. Age at diagnosis of diabetes in Appalachia. *Popul Health Metr.* 2011;9:54.
- 40. America's Health Rankings-2013 Edition. *A Call to Action for Individuals and Their Communities* Saint Paul, MN: 2013 United Health Foundation. 2013.



- 41. The State of Obesity. The State of Obesity in Kentucky. 2013; http://stateofobesity.org/states/ky/. Accessed December 9, 2014.
- 42. Heart Disese and Stroke Prevention Program, Chronic Disease Prevention Branch, Division of Prevention and Quality Improvement, Kentucky Department for Public Health. Close to the Heart of Kentucky, 2009: A report on the status of cardiovascular disease in the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 2009; http://chfs.ky.gov/NR/rdonlyres/331A518C-6083-4DF9-81E1-0F38F507E19F/0/heartdiseaseprogramreportupdated05042010.pdf. Accessed March 29, 2011.
- 43. University of Kentucky, College of Agriculture, School of Human Environmental Sciences. Health Education through Extension Leadership (HEEL). 2011; http://www.ca.uky.edu/hes/?p=175. Accessed May 5, 2012.

2. Chapter Two

- 1. Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2014 update: a report from the american heart association. *Circulation.* Jan 21 2014;129(3):e28-e292.
- 2. Lloyd-Jones DM, Leip EP, Larson MG, et al. Prediction of lifetime risk for cardiovascular disease by risk factor burden at 50 years of age. *Circulation.* Feb 14 2006;113(6):791-798.
- 3. Wilkins JT, Ning H, Berry J, Zhao L, Dyer AR, Lloyd-Jones DM. Lifetime risk and years lived free of total cardiovascular disease. *JAMA*. Nov 7 2012;308(17):1795-1801.
- 4. Berry JD, Liu K, Folsom AR, et al. Prevalence and progression of subclinical atherosclerosis in younger adults with low short-term but high lifetime estimated risk for cardiovascular disease: the coronary artery risk development in young adults study and multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Circulation.* Jan 27 2009;119(3):382-389.
- 5. Arnett JJ. Emerging adulthood. A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *Am Psychol.* May 2000;55(5):469-480.
- 6. Gordon-Larsen P, Adair LS, Nelson MC, Popkin BM. Five-year obesity incidence in the transition period between adolescence and adulthood: the National Longitudinal Study of Adolescent Health. *Am J Clin Nutr.* Sep 2004;80(3):569-575.
- 7. Gordon-Larsen P, Nelson MC, Popkin BM. Longitudinal physical activity and sedentary behavior trends: adolescence to adulthood. *Am J Prev Med.* Nov 2004;27(4):277-283.
- 8. Gordon-Larsen P, The NS, Adair LS. Longitudinal trends in obesity in the United States from adolescence to the third decade of life. *Obesity*. Sep 2010;18(9):1801-1804.
- 9. Luquis RR, Garcia, E., & Ashford, D. A qualitative assessment of college student's perceptions of health behaviors. *American Journal of Health Studies.* 2003;18:156-164.



- 10. Grace TW. Health problems of college students. *J Am Coll Health.* May 1997;45(6):243-250.
- 11. Ha EJ, Caine-Bish N. Effect of nutrition intervention using a general nutrition course for promoting fruit and vegetable consumption among college students. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* Mar-Apr 2009;41(2):103-109.
- 12. American College Health Association. The American College Health Association National College Health Assessment (ACHA-NCHA) spring 2008 reference group data report (abridged). *J Am Coll Health.* 2009;57(5):477-488.
- 13. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Strube MJ, Highstein GR, Deusinger RH. Weight changes, exercise, and dietary patterns during freshman and sophomore years of college. *J Am Coll Health.* May-Jun 2005;53(6):245-251.
- 14. Lowry R, Galuska DA, Fulton JE, Wechsler H, Kann L, Collins JL. Physical activity, food choice, and weight management goals and practices among US college students. *Am J Prev Med.* Jan 2000;18(1):18-27.
- 15. Wengreen HJ, Moncur C. Change in diet, physical activity, and body weight among young-adults during the transition from high school to college. *Nutr J.* 2009;8:32.
- 16. Lloyd-Richardson EE, Bailey S, Fava JL, Wing R. A prospective study of weight gain during the college freshman and sophomore years. *Prev Med.* Mar 2009;48(3):256-261.
- 17. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Strube MJ, Highstein GR, Deusinger RH. Changes in weight and health behaviors from freshman through senior year of college. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* Jan-Feb 2008;40(1):39-42.
- 18. Cluskey M, Grobe D. College weight gain and behavior transitions: male and female differences. *J Am Diet Assoc.* Feb 2009;109(2):325-329.
- 19. Driskell JA, Meckna BR, Scales NE. Differences exist in the eating habits of university men and women at fast-food restaurants. *Nutr Res.* 2006;26(10):524-530.
- 20. Morse KL, Driskell JA. Observed sex differences in fast-food consumption and nutrition self-assessments and beliefs of college students. *Nutr Res.* Mar 2009;29(3):173-179.
- 21. Harris KM, Gordon-Larsen P, Chantala K, Udry JR. Longitudinal trends in race/ethnic disparities in leading health indicators from adolescence to young adulthood. *Arch Pediatr Adolesc Med.* Jan 2006;160(1):74-81.
- 22. Vanhecke TE, Miller WM, Franklin BA, Weber JE, McCullough PA. Awareness, knowledge, and perception of heart disease among adolescents. *Eur J Cardiovasc Prev Rehabil.* Oct 2006;13(5):718-723.
- 23. Lynch EB, Liu K, Kiefe CI, Greenland P. Cardiovascular disease risk factor knowledge in young adults and 10-year change in risk factors: the Coronary Artery Risk Development in Young Adults (CARDIA) Study. *Am J Epidemiol.* Dec 15 2006;164(12):1171-1179.
- 24. Kip KE, McCreath HE, Roseman JM, Hulley SB, Schreiner PJ. Absence of risk factor change in young adults after family heart attack or stroke: the CARDIA Study. *Am J Prev Med.* May 2002;22(4):258-266.



- 25. Boyd JK, Braun KL. Supports for and barriers to healthy living for Native Hawaiian young adults enrolled in community colleges. *Prev Chronic Dis.* Oct 2007;4(4):A88.
- 26. Ludescher G, Nishiwaki R, Lewis D, Brown E, Glacken D, Jenkins E. Black male college students and hypertension: a qualitative investigation. *Health Educ Res.* Jun 1993;8(2):271-282.
- 27. Sandelowski M. Whatever happened to qualitative description? *Res Nurs Health.* Aug 2000;23(4):334-340.
- 28. Sandelowski M. What's in a name? Qualitative description revisited. *Res Nurs Health.* Feb 2010;33(1):77-84.
- 29. Creswell J. Qualitative Inquiry & Research Design: Choosing Among Five Approaches. 2nd ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications; 2007.
- 30. Strong KA, Parks SL, Anderson E, Winett R, Davy BM. Weight gain prevention: identifying theory-based targets for health behavior change in young adults. *J Am Diet Assoc.* Oct 2008;108(10):1708-1715.
- 31. Nelson MC, Kocos R, Lytle LA, Perry CL. Understanding the perceived determinants of weight-related behaviors in late adolescence: a qualitative analysis among college youth. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* Jul-Aug 2009;41(4):287-292.
- 32. Greaney ML, Less FD, White AA, et al. College students' barriers and enablers for healthful weight management: a qualitative study. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* Jul-Aug 2009;41(4):281-286.
- 33. Driskell JA, Kim YN, Goebel KJ. Few differences found in the typical eating and physical activity habits of lower-level and upper-level university students. *J Am Diet Assoc.* May 2005;105(5):798-801.
- 34. Allirot X, Saulais L, Disse E, Roth H, Cazal C, Laville M. Validation of a buffet meal design in an experimental restaurant. *Appetite.* Jun 2012;58(3):889-897.
- 35. Kral TV, Stunkard AJ, Berkowitz RI, et al. Energy density at a buffet-style lunch differs for adolescents born at high and low risk of obesity. *Eat Behav.* Dec 2009;10(4):209-214.
- 36. Davies J, McCrae BP, Frank J, et al. Identifying male college students' perceived health needs, barriers to seeking help, and recommendations to help men adopt healthier lifestyles. *J Am Coll Health.* May 2000;48(6):259-267.
- 37. Magoc D, Tomaka J, Bridges-Arzaga A. Using the web to increase physical activity in college students. *Am J Health Behav.* Mar-Apr 2011;35(2):142-154.
- 38. Grim M, Hortz B, Petosa R. Impact evaluation of a pilot web-based intervention to increase physical activity. *Am J Health Promot.* Mar-Apr 2011;25(4):227-230.
- 39. Sternfeld B, Block C, Quesenberry CP, Jr., et al. Improving diet and physical activity with ALIVE: a worksite randomized trial. *Am J Prev Med.* Jun 2009;36(6):475-483.
- 40. Brunt AR, Rhee YS. Obesity and lifestyle in U.S. college students related to living arrangements. *Appetite.* Nov 2008;51(3):615-621.



3. Chapter Three

- 1. Barnett E, Halverson JA, Elmes GA, Braham VE. Metropolitan and nonmetropolitan trends in coronary heart disease mortality within Appalachia, 1980-1997. *Ann Epidemiol.* Aug 2000;10(6):370-379.
- Heart Disese and Stroke Prevention Program, Chronic Disease Prevention Branch, Division of Prevention and Quality Improvement, Kentucky Department for Public Health. Close to the Heart of Kentucky, 2009: A report on the status of cardiovascular disease in the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 2009; http://chfs.ky.gov/NR/rdonlyres/331A518C-6083-4DF9-81E1-0F38F507E19F/0/heartdiseaseprogramreportupdated05042010.pdf. Accessed March 29, 2011.
- 3. U.S. Census Bureau, American Fact Finder. 2008-2012 American Community Survey 5-Year Estimates. 2014; http://factfinder2.census.gov/.
- 4. United States Department of Agriculture (USDA), Economic Research Service (ERS). Food Environment Atlas. 2014; http://www.ers.usda.gov/data-products/food-environment-atlas.aspx. Accessed August 4, 2014.
- County Health Rankings & Roadmaps. Kentucky 2014. Access to Exercise Opportunities. 2014; http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/app/#!/kentucky/2014/measure/factor s/132/map. Accessed August 4, 2014.
- 6. Ely GE, Flaherty C, Cook-Craig PG, Dignan M. A case study of health risk behaviors in a sample of residents in rural Appalachia. *Contemporary Rural Social Work.* 2010;2:32-44.
- 7. Mudd-Martin G, Biddle MJ, Chung ML, et al. Rural Appalachian perspectives on heart health: social ecological contexts. *Am J Health Behav.* Jan 2014;38(1):134-143.
- 8. County Health Rankings & Roadmaps. Kentucky 2014. Adult Smoking. 2014;

http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/app/#!/kentucky/2014/measure/factor s/9/map. Accessed August 4, 2014.

- 9. Ely GE, Miller K, Dignan M. The disconnect between perceptions of health and measures of health in a rural appalachian sample: implications for public health social workers. *Soc Work Health Care.* 2011;50(4):292-304.
- 10. County Health Rankings & Roadmaps. Kentucky 2014. Adult Obesity. 2014;

http://www.countyhealthrankings.org/app/#!/kentucky/2014/measure/factor s/11/map. Accessed August 4, 2014.

- 11. Lee H, Harris KM, Gordon-Larsen P. Life Course Perspectives on the Links Between Poverty and Obesity During the Transition to Young Adulthood. *Popul Res Policy Rev.* Aug 1 2009;28(4):505-532.
- 12. Diez Roux AV, Merkin SS, Arnett D, et al. Neighborhood of residence and incidence of coronary heart disease. *N Engl J Med.* Jul 12 2001;345(2):99-106.



- 13. Barker L, Crespo R, Gerzoff RB, Denham S, Shrewsberry M, Cornelius-Averhart D. Residence in a distressed county in Appalachia as a risk factor for diabetes, Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System, 2006-2007. *Prev Chronic Dis.* Sep 2010;7(5):A104.
- 14. Barker L, Gerzoff R, Crespo R, Shrewsberry M. Age at diagnosis of diabetes in Appalachia. *Popul Health Metr.* 2011;9:54.
- 15. Arnett JJ. Emerging adulthood. A theory of development from the late teens through the twenties. *Am Psychol.* May 2000;55(5):469-480.
- 16. Nelson MC, Story M, Larson NI, Neumark-Sztainer D, Lytle LA. Emerging adulthood and college-aged youth: an overlooked age for weight-related behavior change. *Obesity.* Oct 2008;16(10):2205-2211.
- 17. Gordon-Larsen P, The NS, Adair LS. Longitudinal trends in obesity in the United States from adolescence to the third decade of life. *Obesity*. Sep 2010;18(9):1801-1804.
- 18. Gordon-Larsen P, Nelson MC, Popkin BM. Longitudinal physical activity and sedentary behavior trends: adolescence to adulthood. *Am J Prev Med.* Nov 2004;27(4):277-283.
- 19. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Strube MJ, Highstein GR, Deusinger RH. Weight changes, exercise, and dietary patterns during freshman and sophomore years of college. *J Am Coll Health.* May-Jun 2005;53(6):245-251.
- 20. American College Health Association. The American College Health Association National College Health Assessment (ACHA-NCHA) spring 2008 reference group data report (abridged). *J Am Coll Health.* 2009;57(5):477-488.
- 21. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Strube MJ, Highstein GR, Deusinger RH. Changes in weight and health behaviors from freshman through senior year of college. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* Jan-Feb 2008;40(1):39-42.
- 22. Dinger MK. Physical activity and dietary intake among college students. *American Journal of Health Studies.* 1999;15(3):139-148.
- 23. Cluskey M, Grobe D. College weight gain and behavior transitions: male and female differences. *J Am Diet Assoc.* Feb 2009;109(2):325-329.
- 24. Wengreen HJ, Moncur C. Change in diet, physical activity, and body weight among young-adults during the transition from high school to college. *Nutr J.* 2009;8:32.
- 25. Mokdad AH, Marks JS, Stroup DF, Gerberding JL. Actual causes of death in the United States, 2000. *J Am Med Assoc.* Mar 10 2004;291(10):1238-1245.
- 26. Lloyd-Jones DM, Leip EP, Larson MG, et al. Prediction of lifetime risk for cardiovascular disease by risk factor burden at 50 years of age. *Circulation.* Feb 14 2006;113(6):791-798.
- 27. United States Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics. Local Area Unemployment Statistics Map. 2014; http://data.bls.gov/map/MapToolServlet?survey=la&map=county&seasona I=u. Accessed July 23, 2014.



 Appalachian Regional Commission. Source and Methodology: Distressed Designation and County Economic Status Classification System, FY 2007 - FY 2015. 2014; http://www.arc.gov/research/SourceandMethodologyCounty/EconomicStat

http://www.arc.gov/research/SourceandMethodologyCountyEconomicStat usFY2007FY2015.asp. Accessed July 24, 2014.

- 29. Kentucky Institute of Medicine. *The Health of Kentucky: A County Assessment.* Lexington, KY. 2007.
- 30. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Interactive Atlas of Heart Disease and Stroke. 2014; http://nccd.cdc.gov/DHDSPAtlas/Default.aspx. Accessed July 23, 2014.
- 31. Boone-Heinonen J, Guilkey DK, Evenson KR, Gordon-Larsen P. Residential self-selection bias in the estimation of built environment effects on physical activity between adolescence and young adulthood. *Int J Behav Nutr Phy.* 2010;7:70.
- 32. Boone-Heinonen J, Gordon-Larsen P, Guilkey DK, Jacobs DR, Jr., Popkin BM. Environment and physical activity dynamics: the role of residential self-selection. *Psychol Sport Exerc.* Jan 1 2011;12(1):54-60.
- 33. Diez Roux AV. Estimating neighborhood health effects: the challenges of causal inference in a complex world. *Soc Sci Med.* May 2004;58(10):1953-1960.
- 34. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Survey Questionnaire. 2010.
- 35. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Surveillance of Fruit and Vegetable Intake Using the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. n.d.; http://www.cdc.gov/brfss/pdf/fruits_vegetables.pdf. Accessed August 28, 2014.
- 36. The IPAQ Group. IPAQ. International Physical Activity Questionnaire. n.d.; https://sites.google.com/site/theipaq/. Accessed August 6, 2014.
- 37. National Institutes of Health, National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, North American Association for the Study of Obesity. *The practical guide: Identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults.* U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Bethesda, MD. 2000.
- 38. National Institutes of Health, National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. *Clinical guidelines on the identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults*. U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Bethesda, MD. 1998.
- 39. Strazzullo P, Barba G, Cappuccio FP, et al. Altered renal sodium handling in men with abdominal adiposity: a link to hypertension. *J Hypertens.* Dec 2001;19(12):2157-2164.
- 40. Clasey JL, Bouchard C, Teates CD, et al. The use of anthropometric and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) measures to estimate total abdominal and abdominal visceral fat in men and women. *Obes Res.* May 1999;7(3):256-264.
- 41. Eckel RH, Jakicic JM, Ard JD, et al. 2013 AHA/ACC guideline on lifestyle management to reduce cardiovascular risk: a report of the American



College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Practice Guidelines. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Jul 1 2014;63(25 Pt B):2960-2984.

- 42. Lutfiyya MN, Chang LF, Lipsky MS. A cross-sectional study of US rural adults' consumption of fruits and vegetables: do they consume at least five servings daily? *BMC Public Health.* 2012;12:280.
- 43. Hardin-Fanning F. Adherence to a Mediterranean diet in a rural Appalachian food desert. *Rural and Remote Health.* Apr-Jun 2013;13(2):2293.
- 44. Foundation for a Healthy Kentucky and Interact for Health. *Results from the 2013 Kentucky health issues poll: spotlight on Eastern Kentucky.* Louisville, KY: Authors. 2014.
- 45. Boone-Heinonen J, Gordon-Larsen P, Kiefe CI, Shikany JM, Lewis CE, Popkin BM. Fast food restaurants and food stores: longitudinal associations with diet in young to middle-aged adults: the CARDIA study. *Arch Intern Med.* Jul 11 2011;171(13):1162-1170.
- 46. Driskell JA, Meckna BR, Scales NE. Differences exist in the eating habits of university men and women at fast-food restaurants. *Nutr Res.* 2006;26(10):524-530.
- 47. Morse KL, Driskell JA. Observed sex differences in fast-food consumption and nutrition self-assessments and beliefs of college students. *Nutr Res.* Mar 2009;29(3):173-179.
- 48. Pelletier JE, Laska MN. Campus food and beverage purchases are associated with indicators of diet quality in college students living off campus. *Am J Health Promot.* Nov-Dec 2013;28(2):80-87.
- 49. Agaku IT, King BA, Dube SR, Centers for Disease C, Prevention. Current cigarette smoking among adults United States, 2005-2012. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly. Rep.* Jan 17 2014;63(2):29-34.
- 50. Foundation for a Healthy Kentucky. Lack of physical activity (percent adults) 2008-2010 County Group. 2008; http://www.kentuckyhealthfacts.org/data/topic/map.aspx?ind=4. Accessed July 9, 2014.
- 51. Kruger TM, Swanson M, Davis RE, Wright S, Dollarhide K, Schoenberg NE. Formative research conducted in rural Appalachia to inform a community physical activity intervention. *Am J Health Promot.* Jan-Feb 2012;26(3):143-151.
- 52. Swanson M, Schoenberg NE, Erwin H, Davis RE. Perspectives on physical activity and exercise among Appalachian youth. *J Phys Act Health.* Jan 2013;10(1):42-47.
- 53. Kim KS, Owen WL, Williams D, Adams-Campbell LL. A comparison between BMI and Conicity index on predicting coronary heart disease: the Framingham Heart Study. *Ann Epidemiol.* Oct 2000;10(7):424-431.
- 54. de Koning L, Merchant AT, Pogue J, Anand SS. Waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio as predictors of cardiovascular events: meta-regression analysis of prospective studies. *Eur Heart J.* Apr 2007;28(7):850-856.



- 55. Gordon-Larsen P, Hou N, Sidney S, et al. Fifteen-year longitudinal trends in walking patterns and their impact on weight change. *Am J Clin Nutr.* Jan 2009;89(1):19-26.
- 56. Duffey KJ, Popkin BM. Energy density, portion size, and eating occasions: contributions to increased energy intake in the United States, 1977-2006. *PLoS Med.* Jun 2011;8(6):e1001050.
- 57. Huh J, Huang Z, Liao Y, Pentz M, Chou CP. Transitional life events and trajectories of cigarette and alcohol use during emerging adulthood: latent class analysis and growth mixture modeling. *J Stud Alcohol Drugs.* Sep 2013;74(5):727-735.
- 58. Grimm KA, Foltz JL, Blanck HM, Scanlon KS. Household income disparities in fruit and vegetable consumption by state and territory: results of the 2009 Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. *J Acad Nutr Diet.* Dec 2012;112(12):2014-2021.
- 59. Fang J, Yang Q, Hong Y, Loustalot F. Status of cardiovascular health among adult Americans in the 50 States and the District of Columbia, 2009. *J Am Heart Assoc.* Dec 2012;1(6):e005371.

4. Chapter Four

- 1. Go AS, Mozaffarian D, Roger VL, et al. Heart disease and stroke statistics--2014 update: a report from the american heart association. *Circulation.* Jan 21 2014;129(3):e28-e292.
- 2. Hu G, Jousilahti P, Tuomilehto J. Joint effects of history of hypertension at baseline and type 2 diabetes at baseline and during follow-up on the risk of coronary heart disease. *Eur Heart J.* Dec 2007;28(24):3059-3066.
- Lewington S, Clarke R, Qizilbash N, Peto R, Collins R. Age-specific relevance of usual blood pressure to vascular mortality: a meta-analysis of individual data for one million adults in 61 prospective studies. *Lancet.* Dec 14 2002;360(9349):1903-1913.
- 4. Levy D, Larson MG, Vasan RS, Kannel WB, Ho KK. The progression from hypertension to congestive heart failure. *JAMA*. May 22-29 1996;275(20):1557-1562.
- 5. May AL, Kuklina EV, Yoon PW. Prevalence of cardiovascular disease risk factors among US adolescents, 1999-2008. *Pediatrics.* Jun 2012;129(6):1035-1041.
- 6. Johnson HM, Thorpe CT, Bartels CM, et al. Undiagnosed hypertension among young adults with regular primary care use. *J Hypertens.* Jan 2014;32(1):65-74.
- Gray L, Lee IM, Sesso HD, Batty GD. Blood pressure in early adulthood, hypertension in middle age, and future cardiovascular disease mortality: HAHS (Harvard Alumni Health Study). *J Am Coll Cardiol.* Nov 29 2011;58(23):2396-2403.
- 8. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Strube MJ, Highstein GR, Deusinger RH. Weight changes, exercise, and dietary patterns during freshman and



sophomore years of college. *J Am Coll Health.* May-Jun 2005;53(6):245-251.

- 9. American College Health Association. *American College Health Association-National College Health Assessment (ACHA-NCHA-II) Reference Group Data Report-Spring 2013.* Hanover, MD: American College Health Association; 2013.
- 10. Burke JD, Reilly RA, Morrell JS, Lofgren IE. The University of New Hampshire's Young Adult Health Risk Screening Initiative. *J Am Diet Assoc.* Oct 2009;109(10):1751-1758.
- 11. Cluskey M, Grobe D. College weight gain and behavior transitions: male and female differences. *J Am Diet Assoc.* Feb 2009;109(2):325-329.
- 12. Vella-Zarb RA, Elgar FJ. The 'freshman 5': a meta-analysis of weight gain in the freshman year of college. *J Am Coll Health.* Sep-Oct 2009;58(2):161-166.
- 13. Gropper SS, Simmons KP, Connell LJ, Ulrich PV. Weight and Body Composition Changes during the First Three Years of College. *J Obes.* 2012;2012:634048.
- 14. Abolfotouh MA, Al-Alwan IA, Al-Rowaily MA. Prevalence of Metabolic Abnormalities and Association with Obesity among Saudi College Students. *Int J Hypertens.* 2012;2012:819726.
- 15. Lima AC, Araujo MF, Freitas RW, Zanetti ML, Almeida PC, Damasceno MM. Risk factors for Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus in college students: association with sociodemographic variables. *Rev Lat Am Enfermagem.* Jun 2014;22(3):484-490.
- 16. Spencer L. Results of a heart disease risk-factor screening among traditional college students. *J Am Coll Health.* May 2002;50(6):291-296.
- 17. Bajko Z, Szekeres CC, Kovacs KR, et al. Anxiety, depression and autonomic nervous system dysfunction in hypertension. *J Neurol. Sci.* Jun 15 2012;317(1-2):112-116.
- 18. Jonas BS, Franks P, Ingram DD. Are symptoms of anxiety and depression risk factors for hypertension? Longitudinal evidence from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey I Epidemiologic Follow-up Study. *Arch Fam Med.* Jan-Feb 1997;6(1):43-49.
- 19. Patterson RE, Frank LL, Kristal AR, White E. A comprehensive examination of health conditions associated with obesity in older adults. *Am J Prev Med.* Dec 2004;27(5):385-390.
- 20. Reeder BA, Angel A, Ledoux M, Rabkin SW, Young TK, Sweet LE. Obesity and its relation to cardiovascular disease risk factors in Canadian adults. Canadian Heart Health Surveys Research Group. *Can Med Assoc J.* Jun 1 1992;146(11):2009-2019.
- 21. Wilson PW, D'Agostino RB, Sullivan L, Parise H, Kannel WB. Overweight and obesity as determinants of cardiovascular risk: the Framingham experience. *Arch Intern Med.* Sep 9 2002;162(16):1867-1872.
- 22. Bader DS, Maguire TE, Spahn CM, O'Malley CJ, Balady GJ. Clinical profile and outcomes of obese patients in cardiac rehabilitation stratified



according to National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute criteria. *J Cardiopulm Rehabil.* Jul-Aug 2001;21(4):210-217.

- 23. Kroke A, Bergmann M, Klipstein-Grobusch K, Boeing H. Obesity, body fat distribution and body build: their relation to blood pressure and prevalence of hypertension. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* Nov 1998;22(11):1062-1070.
- 24. McGavock JM, Torrance B, McGuire KA, Wozny P, Lewanczuk RZ. The relationship between weight gain and blood pressure in children and adolescents. *Am J Hypertens.* Oct 2007;20(10):1038-1044.
- 25. McNiece KL, Poffenbarger TS, Turner JL, Franco KD, Sorof JM, Portman RJ. Prevalence of hypertension and pre-hypertension among adolescents. *J Pediatr.* Jun 2007;150(6):640-644, 644 e641.
- 26. Rao S, Kanade A, Kelkar R. Blood pressure among overweight adolescents from urban school children in Pune, India. *Eur J Clin Nutr.* May 2007;61(5):633-641.
- 27. Acosta AA, Samuels JA, Portman RJ, Redwine KM. Prevalence of persistent prehypertension in adolescents. *J Pediatr.* May 2012;160(5):757-761.
- 28. Botton J, Heude B, Kettaneh A, et al. Cardiovascular risk factor levels and their relationships with overweight and fat distribution in children: the Fleurbaix Laventie Ville Sante II study. *Metabolism.* May 2007;56(5):614-622.
- 29. Vasan RS, Larson MG, Leip EP, Kannel WB, Levy D. Assessment of frequency of progression to hypertension in non-hypertensive participants in the Framingham Heart Study: a cohort study. *Lancet.* Nov 17 2001;358(9294):1682-1686.
- 30. Gelber RP, Gaziano JM, Manson JE, Buring JE, Sesso HD. A prospective study of body mass index and the risk of developing hypertension in men. *Am J Hypertens.* Apr 2007;20(4):370-377.
- 31. Zhu H, Yan W, Ge D, et al. Cardiovascular characteristics in American youth with prehypertension. *Am J Hypertens.* Oct 2007;20(10):1051-1057.
- 32. Okosun IS, Prewitt TE, Cooper RS. Abdominal obesity in the United States: prevalence and attributable risk of hypertension. *J Hum Hypertens.* Jul 1999;13(7):425-430.
- 33. Levine DA, Calhoun DA, Prineas RJ, Cushman M, Howard VJ, Howard G. Moderate waist circumference and hypertension prevalence: the REGARDS Study. *Am J Hypertens.* Apr 2011;24(4):482-488.
- 34. Clasey JL, Bouchard C, Teates CD, et al. The use of anthropometric and dual-energy X-ray absorptiometry (DXA) measures to estimate total abdominal and abdominal visceral fat in men and women. *Obes Res.* May 1999;7(3):256-264.
- 35. de Souza NC, de Oliveira EP. Sagittal abdominal diameter shows better correlation with cardiovascular risk factors than waist circumference and BMI. *J Diabetes Metab Disord.* 2013;12:41.



- 36. Ohrvall M, Berglund L, Vessby B. Sagittal abdominal diameter compared with other anthropometric measurements in relation to cardiovascular risk. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord.* Apr 2000;24(4):497-501.
- 37. Riserus U, de Faire U, Berglund L, Hellenius ML. Sagittal abdominal diameter as a screening tool in clinical research: cutoffs for cardiometabolic risk. *J Obes.* 2010;2010.
- 38. National Institutes of Health, National Heart Lung and Blood Institute, North American Association for the Study of Obesity. *The practical guide: Identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults.* U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Bethesda, MD. 2000.
- 39. National Institutes of Health, National Heart Lung and Blood Institute. *Clinical guidelines on the identification, evaluation, and treatment of overweight and obesity in adults.* U.S. Department of Health and Human Services. Bethesda, MD. 1998.
- 40. Strazzullo P, Barba G, Cappuccio FP, et al. Altered renal sodium handling in men with abdominal adiposity: a link to hypertension. *J Hypertens.* Dec 2001;19(12):2157-2164.
- 41. de Moraes AC, Carvalho HB, Rey-Lopez JP, et al. Independent and combined effects of physical activity and sedentary behavior on blood pressure in adolescents: gender differences in two cross-sectional studies. *PLoS One.* 2013;8(5):e62006.
- 42. Shi L, Krupp D, Remer T. Salt, fruit and vegetable consumption and blood pressure development: a longitudinal investigation in healthy children. *Br J Nutr.* Feb 2014;111(4):662-671.
- 43. Al-Safi SA. Does smoking affect blood pressure and heart rate? *Eur J Cardiovasc. Nurs.* Dec 2005;4(4):286-289.
- 44. Meng L, Chen D, Yang Y, Zheng Y, Hui R. Depression increases the risk of hypertension incidence: a meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *J Hypertens.* May 2012;30(5):842-851.
- 45. Bacon SL, Campbell TS, Arsenault A, Lavoie KL. The impact of mood and anxiety disorders on incident hypertension at one year. *Int J Hypertens.* 2014;2014:953094.
- 46. Zhou L, Chen Y, Sun N, Liu X. Family history of hypertension and arterial elasticity characteristics in healthy young people. *Hypertens Res.* May 2008;31(5):833-839.
- 47. The IPAQ Group. IPAQ. International Physical Activity Questionnaire. n.d.; https://sites.google.com/site/theipaq/. Accessed August 6, 2014.
- 48. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System Survey Questionnaire. 2010.
- 49. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Surveillance of Fruit and Vegetable Intake Using the Behavioral Risk Factor Surveillance System. n.d.; http://www.cdc.gov/brfss/pdf/fruits_vegetables.pdf. Accessed August 28, 2014.
- 50. Kroenke K, Spitzer RL, Williams JB. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. *J Gen Intern Med.* Sep 2001;16(9):606-613.



- 51. Huang FY, Chung H, Kroenke K, Delucchi KL, Spitzer RL. Using the Patient Health Questionnaire-9 to measure depression among racially and ethnically diverse primary care patients. *J Gen Intern Med.* Jun 2006;21(6):547-552.
- 52. Derogatis LR, Melisaratos N. The Brief Symptom Inventory: an introductory report. *Psychol. Med.* Aug 1983;13(3):595-605.
- 53. Chobanian AV, Bakris GL, Black HR, et al. The Seventh Report of the Joint National Committee on Prevention, Detection, Evaluation, and Treatment of High Blood Pressure: the JNC 7 report. *J Am Med Assoc.* May 21 2003;289(19):2560-2572.
- 54. Pickering TG, Miller NH, Ogedegbe G, Krakoff LR, Artinian NT, Goff D. Call to action on use and reimbursement for home blood pressure monitoring: executive summary: a joint scientific statement from the American Heart Association, American Society Of Hypertension, and Preventive Cardiovascular Nurses Association. *Hypertension.* Jul 2008;52(1):1-9.
- 55. James PA, Oparil S, Carter BL, et al. 2014 evidence-based guideline for the management of high blood pressure in adults: report from the panel members appointed to the Eighth Joint National Committee (JNC 8). *JAMA.* Feb 5 2014;311(5):507-520.
- 56. Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, Ross R. Waist circumference and not body mass index explains obesity-related health risk. *Am J Clin Nutr.* Mar 2004;79(3):379-384.
- 57. Anand T, Ingle GK, Meena GS, Kishore J, Kumar R. Hypertension and its correlates among school adolescents in delhi. *Int J Prev Med.* Mar 2014;5(Suppl 1):S65-70.
- 58. Song YH. The association of blood pressure with body mass index and waist circumference in normal weight and overweight adolescents. *Korean J Pediatr.* Feb 2014;57(2):79-84.
- 59. Dalleck LC, Kjelland EM. The prevalence of metabolic syndrome and metabolic syndrome risk factors in college-aged students. *Am J Health Promot.* Sep-Oct 2012;27(1):37-42.
- 60. Abdulle A, Al-Junaibi A, Nagelkerke N. High blood pressure and its association with body weight among children and adolescents in the United Arab Emirates. *PLoS One.* 2014;9(1):e85129.
- 61. Ostchega Y, Hughes JP, Terry A, Fakhouri TH, Miller I. Abdominal obesity, body mass index, and hypertension in US adults: NHANES 2007-2010. *Am J Hypertens.* Dec 2012;25(12):1271-1278.
- 62. Siani A, Cappuccio FP, Barba G, et al. The relationship of waist circumference to blood pressure: the Olivetti Heart Study. *Am J Hypertens.* Sep 2002;15(9):780-786.
- 63. Zhang YX, Wang SR. Blood pressure level profiles among children and adolescents with various types of obesity: study in a large population in Shandong, China. *Clin Res Cardiol.* Jul 2014;103(7):553-559.
- 64. Zhang YX, Wang SR. Comparison of blood pressure levels among children and adolescents with different body mass index and waist



circumference: study in a large sample in Shandong, China. *Eur J Nutr.* Mar 2014;53(2):627-634.

- 65. Janssen I, Katzmarzyk PT, Ross R. Waist circumference and not body mass index explains obesity-related health risk. *Am J Clin Nutr.* Mar 2004;79(3):379-384.
- 66. Sironi AM, Gastaldelli A, Mari A, et al. Visceral fat in hypertension: influence on insulin resistance and beta-cell function. *Hypertension.* Aug 2004;44(2):127-133.
- 67. Anish TS, Shahulhameed S, Vijayakumar K, Joy TM, Sreelakshmi PR, Kuriakose A. Gender Difference in Blood pressure, Blood Sugar, and Cholesterol in Young Adults with Comparable Routine Physical Exertion. *J Family Med Prim Care*. Apr 2013;2(2):200-203.

5. Chapter Five

- 1. Ford ES, Giles WH, Mokdad AH. The distribution of 10-Year risk for coronary heart disease among US adults: findings from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey III. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* May 19 2004;43(10):1791-1796.
- 2. Berry JD, Liu K, Folsom AR, et al. Prevalence and progression of subclinical atherosclerosis in younger adults with low short-term but high lifetime estimated risk for cardiovascular disease: the coronary artery risk development in young adults study and multi-ethnic study of atherosclerosis. *Circulation.* Jan 27 2009;119(3):382-389.
- 3. Gordon-Larsen P, Nelson MC, Popkin BM. Longitudinal physical activity and sedentary behavior trends: adolescence to adulthood. *Am J Prev Med.* Nov 2004;27(4):277-283.
- 4. Gordon-Larsen P, The NS, Adair LS. Longitudinal trends in obesity in the United States from adolescence to the third decade of life. *Obesity.* Sep 2010;18(9):1801-1804.
- 5. Chen X, Wang Y. Tracking of blood pressure from childhood to adulthood: a systematic review and meta-regression analysis. *Circulation.* Jun 24 2008;117(25):3171-3180.
- 6. Burke JD, Reilly RA, Morrell JS, Lofgren IE. The University of New Hampshire's Young Adult Health Risk Screening Initiative. *J Am Diet Assoc.* Oct 2009;109(10):1751-1758.
- 7. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Strube MJ, Highstein GR, Deusinger RH. Weight changes, exercise, and dietary patterns during freshman and sophomore years of college. *J Am Coll Health.* May-Jun 2005;53(6):245-251.
- 8. Racette SB, Deusinger SS, Strube MJ, Highstein GR, Deusinger RH. Changes in weight and health behaviors from freshman through senior year of college. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* Jan-Feb 2008;40(1):39-42.
- 9. Morrell JS, Lofgren IE, Burke JD, Reilly RA. Metabolic syndrome, obesity, and related risk factors among college men and women. *J Am Coll Health.* 2012;60(1):82-89.



- 10. American College Health Association. The American College Health Association National College Health Assessment (ACHA-NCHA) spring 2008 reference group data report (abridged). *J Am Coll Health.* 2009;57(5):477-488.
- 11. American College Health Association. American College Health Association-National College Health Assessment (ACHA-NCHA-II) Reference Group Data Report-Spring 2013. Hanover, MD: American College Health Association; 2013.
- 12. Holt N, Schetzina KE, Dalton WT, 3rd, Tudiver F, Fulton-Robinson H, Wu T. Primary care practice addressing child overweight and obesity: a survey of primary care physicians at four clinics in southern Appalachia. *South Med J.* Jan 2011;104(1):14-19.
- 13. Strong KA, Parks SL, Anderson E, Winett R, Davy BM. Weight gain prevention: identifying theory-based targets for health behavior change in young adults. *J Am Diet Assoc.* Oct 2008;108(10):1708-1715.
- 14. Nelson MC, Kocos R, Lytle LA, Perry CL. Understanding the perceived determinants of weight-related behaviors in late adolescence: a qualitative analysis among college youth. *J Nutr Educ Behav.* Jul-Aug 2009;41(4):287-292.
- 15. Luquis RR, Garcia, E., & Ashford, D. A qualitative assessment of college student's perceptions of health behaviors. *American Journal of Health Studies.* 2003;18:156-164.
- 16. Racette SB, Inman CL, Clark BR, Royer NK, Steger-May K, Deusinger SS. Exercise and cardiometabolic risk factors in graduate students: a longitudinal, observational study. *J Am Coll Health.* 2014;62(1):47-56.
- 17. Sailors MH, Jackson AS, McFarlin BK, et al. Exposing college students to exercise: the Training Interventions and Genetics of Exercise Response (TIGER) study. *J Am Coll Health.* 2010;59(1):13-20.
- 18. Greene GW, White AA, Hoerr SL, et al. Impact of an online healthful eating and physical activity program for college students. *Am J Health Promot.* Nov-Dec 2012;27(2):e47-58.
- 19. Whittaker R, McRobbie H, Bullen C, Borland R, Rodgers A, Gu Y. Mobile phone-based interventions for smoking cessation. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* 2012;11:CD006611.
- 20. Staten RR, Ridner SL. College students' perspective on smoking cessation: "If the message doesn't speak to me, I don't hear it". *Issues Ment Health Nurs.* Jan 2007;28(1):101-115.
- 21. Hardin-Fanning F. Adherence to a Mediterranean diet in a rural Appalachian food desert. *Rural Remote Health.* Apr-Jun 2013;13(2):2293.
- 22. Mudd-Martin G, Biddle MJ, Chung ML, et al. Rural Appalachian perspectives on heart health: social ecological contexts. *Am J Health Behav.* Jan 2014;38(1):134-143.
- 23. Swanson M, Schoenberg NE, Erwin H, Davis RE. Perspectives on physical activity and exercise among Appalachian youth. *J Phys Act Health.* Jan 2013;10(1):42-47.


- 24. Nelson MC, Story M, Larson NI, Neumark-Sztainer D, Lytle LA. Emerging adulthood and college-aged youth: an overlooked age for weight-related behavior change. *Obesity.* Oct 2008;16(10):2205-2211.
- 25. Boone-Heinonen J, Gordon-Larsen P, Kiefe CI, Shikany JM, Lewis CE, Popkin BM. Fast food restaurants and food stores: longitudinal associations with diet in young to middle-aged adults: the CARDIA study. *Arch Intern Med.* Jul 11 2011;171(13):1162-1170.



Vita

Demetrius A. Abshire

Education

Institution	Degree	Date Conferred	Field of Study
University of Kentucky	BSN	2006, May	Nursing
University of Kentucky	MSN	2009, May	Nursing

Professional Experience

Dates	Institution and Location	Academic Position
August, 2011-present	University of Kentucky	Research Assistant
	Lexington, KY	(2070)
July, 2011-present	University of Kentucky	Lecturer (50%)
	Lexington, KY	
August, 2009 – June,	University of Kentucky	Lecturer (75%)
2011	College of Nursing, Lexington, KY	
August, 2007 - August,	University of Kentucky	Pre-Doctoral Fellow
2009	College of Nursing, Lexington, KY	RICH Heart Program
July, 2005 - September, 2005	University of Kentucky College of Nursing,	Temporary Tech
	Lexington, KY	

Dates	Institution and Location	Clinical Position
June, 2006 - June, 2008	Cardinal Hill	Staff Nurse
	Rehabilitation Hospital,	
	Stroke Unit, Lexington,	
	KY	
Dates	Institution and Location	Clinical Position
Dates June, 2006 - July, 2007	Institution and Location University of Kentucky	Clinical Position Staff Nurse
Dates June, 2006 - July, 2007	Institution and Location University of Kentucky Chandler Medical Center,	Clinical Position Staff Nurse
Dates June, 2006 - July, 2007	Institution and Location University of Kentucky Chandler Medical Center, Neuro-Surgical Intensive	Clinical Position Staff Nurse



June, 2004 - June, 2006	Cardinal Hill Rehabilitation Hospital, Stroke Unit, Lexington, KY	Nurse Extern	
-------------------------	--	--------------	--

Awards and Honors

2014	Featured as an Emerging Leader in the Graduate Nursing
0010	Student Academy's February 2014 Bulletin
2013	Semi-finalist for a Tylenol Future Care Scholarship
2013	Secondary recipient of a Student Government Association
2013	Phi Kappa Phi Love of Learning Award
2013	I hi Kappa i hi Love of Leanning Award
2013	Maiti Memorial Scholarshin
2012	Delta Psi Research Award
2012	SAHA Award for Cardiovascular Research and Education:
	Nursing Student with UK HealthCare Award
2012	Post-Doctoral Grant, European Society of Cardiology
	Council on Cardiovascular Nursing
2009	Lyman T. Johnson Odyssey Award, Student Government
	Association
2008	Lyman T. Johnson Academic Fellowship
2007	Lyman T. Johnson Academic Fellowship
2006	Graduated Magna Cum Laude, University of Kentucky
2006	Faculty Award, University of Kentucky College of Nursing
2006	Second place award in Oswald Research and Creativity
	Program, Category: Biological Sciences
2005	First place award for undergraduate presentation in
	College
2005	of Nursing's Student Scholarship Showcase
	SAHA Foundation for Cardiovascular Research and
	Education Scholarship

Publications (*indicates data-based)

Journal Articles

*Welsh, D., Lennie, T.A., Marcinek, R., Biddle, M.J., **Abshire, D**., Bentley, B., & Moser, D.K. (2012). Low-sodium diet self-management intervention in heart failure: Pilot study results. *European Journal of Cardiovascular Nursing*. Advance online publication. doi: 10.1177/1474515111435604



- Welsh, D., Marcinek, R., Abshire, D., Biddle, M., Lennie, T., Bentley, B., & Moser, D. (2010). Theory-based low-sodium diet education for heart failure patients. *Home Healthcare Nurse*, 28(7), 432-443. doi:10.1097/NHH.0b013e3181e324e0
- *Burkhart, P., Rayens, M., Oakley, M., **Abshire, D**., & Zhang, M. (2007). Testing an intervention to promote children's adherence to asthma selfmanagement. *Journal of Nursing Scholarship, 39*(2), 133-140. doi: 10.1111/j.1547-5069.2007.00158.x
- *Burkhart, P., & **Abshire**, **D**. (2005). Children's self-reports of physical activity as a trigger for asthma episodes. *International Review of Asthma*, 7(1), 46-52.
- Abshire, D. (2005). Promoting children's adherence to asthma selfmanagement. *Kaleidoscope, 4,* 64-68.

Published Abstracts

- Welsh, D., Marcinek, R., Abshire, D., Biddle, M., Lennie, T., Bentley, B., & Moser, D. (2009). Theory-based intervention increases low-sodium diet adherence and improves health-related quality of life in patients with heart failure. *Circulation*, 120, (18 Suppl.), S514.
- Abshire, D. A., Moser, D. K., Clasey, J. L., Chung, M. L., Pressler, S. J., Dunbar, S. B., Heo, S., & Lennie, T. A. (2008). Increased body mass index is protective against low bone mineral density in patients with heart failure. *Circulation, 118,* S920.
- Burkhart, P., Browning, S., Westneat, S., Knox, C., & **Abshire, D**. (2007). Respiratory health of Kentucky farm children. *The Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology, 119*(1), S68.

